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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no
responsibility for the contents of this annual report, make no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this annual report.

This annual report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Sino Splendid Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this annual report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this
annual report misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
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Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
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KY1-1102, Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,

Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East,

Wanchai,

Hong Kong

AUDITOR

Elite Partners CPA Limited
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33 Lockhart Road,
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Hong Kong
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WEBSITE
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
LR

FINANCIAL AND OPERATING RESULTS

HIGHLIGHTS

The following table sets forth certain financial information of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the

years indicated:

MRREERERE

TRHEJNARFREMBE LR (AR
SEDRARFENE THHER:

Operating results (HK$’000) REX&E(THER)
2023 2022
—Eg== T
Revenue ] 42,311 66,267
Loss for the year FANEE (49,071) (43,023)
Financial position (HK$’000) MR (FHET)
2023 2022
—BZZ=HF —EF-=
Equity attributable to owners of ZN/NSIES YN A
the Company 51,584 100,776
Total assets BEE 85,099 110,423
Net assets FEE 51,584 102,805
Financial statistics MK EE
2023 2022
—B-=F —EF-—
Current ratio’ i Eh b & 2.37 13.62
Total debts to total assets ratio? BEFE BB E 2 0.39 0.07
Return on total assets (%)’ 484 7 B ¥R (%)° (57.66%) (38.96%)
Return on sales (%)* 85 B ]2 (%)* (115.98%) (64.92%)
(Loss)/earnings per share — basic’ R (B18) BF - &ZEAS (33.26) (31.77)
Net assets value per share® BREEFES 0.35 0.76
hEERGRZRARLF —E - =FFR 5



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
LR

Notes:

6

Current ratio is calculated by dividing current assets by current
liabilities.

Total debts to total assets ratio is calculated by dividing the total
indebtedness by total assets.

Return on total assets is calculated by dividing the profit for the
year by total assets.

Return on sales is calculated by dividing the profit for the year by
revenue.

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable
to owners of the Company for the year by weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Net assets value per share is calculated by dividing the net assets
by weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year. Net assets represent total assets less total liabilities.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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DIRECTOR’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors of the
Company, | hereby present the Group’s results for 2023 to our
shareholders.

Operating results of the Group had not improved for the year
ended 31 December 2023 as compared to that of the year 2022,
though it had not been recovered to prepandemic level. Even
though the Group has spent an extra costs on the marketing
expense to wider the local market of Hong Kong and the new
market in Eastern Asia Countries, such as Macau and Philippines
but the overall economic recovery was stalling and consumer
confidence was severely affected with the negative wealth effect
from a steeper drop in real estate market, especially in Mainland
China and Hong Kong. Financial magazine and other media
business were affected particularly hard. The market downturn
driven by property market slump may be structural and it may
not be able to turn around in the near future. We are therefore
cautious about the market outlook and will be prudent and
selective in expanding investment decisions.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend sincere
gratitude to all shareholders, customers, suppliers and business
partners for their continuing support, and also to members of
the Board, the management, and employees who have been
dedicating to the development of the Group, for their invaluable
contributions.

Mr. Wang Tao
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DN

RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group are
principally engaged in (i) travel media operations with provision
of advertising services through the internet and travel magazines,
event organizing services and magazine publication (“Travel
Media Business”) (ii) provision of contents and advertising
services in multiple well known financial magazines distributed
in The People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and provision of
advertising services through the internet and others media
channels (“Financial Magazine And Other Media Business”); (iii)
investment in securities (“Securities Investment”); (iv) money
lending (“Money Lending Business”); and (v) virtual reality
business (“Virtual Reality Business”).

The Group’s total revenue decreased by HK$24 million or
36.2%, from HK$66.3 million last year to HK$42.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 primarily due to the revenue
decrease from travel media Business.

Gross profit of the Group was HK$6.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2023, representing a decrease of HK$15 million
or 68.8% as compared with HK$21.8 million in 2022. Gross
profit margin for the year reached approximately 16.1% (2022:
32.9%), representing a decrease of 16.8% over the last year.

The Group recorded other income, gains and losses in the net
gain amount of HK$2 million during the year, compared with
HK$1.2 million net gain in the corresponding period of 2022,
which was mainly due to an increase in fair value changes on
financial assets at FVTPL in 2023.

The impairment approach in HKFRS 9 is based on expectations
as opposed to incurred losses under the predecessor accounting
standard. This means it is not necessary for a loss event to occur
before credit losses are recognised. Instead, a loss allowance
is recognised for expected credit losses and is remeasured at
each reporting date for changes in those expected credit losses.
HKFRS 9 is purposefully designed to be forward looking and
reflect expectations of future credit events impacting loans and
receivables on the statement of financial position. It is important
when determining what ‘forward looking” information should
be used as it must reflect the forward-looking information that
existed at the reporting date.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

At the reporting date, the management expected all entities to
experience conditions often associated with a general economic
including, but not limited to, financial market
volatility and erosion, deteriorating credit, liquidity concerns,
further increases in government intervention, increasing
unemployment, broad declines in consumer discretionary
spending, increasing inventory levels, reductions in production
because of decreased demand, layoffs and other restructuring
activities. Contingent on the continuation of these circumstances
a potential broader economic downturn could result with a
prolonged negative impact on the Group’s financial results.

downturn,

In determining the recoverability of the trade receivables, the
management had from time to time during the financial period,
communicated with the debtors about their financial condition.

Based on the Group’s understanding from the foregoing
communication and the results of its review on their respective
financial information and after taking into account their
repayment history and certain forward-looking factors specific
to each of them, the Group recorded the impairment losses
under expected credit loss model, net of approximately HK$11.8
million (2022: reversal of HK$23.8 million). The Group made
provision for impairment losses on accounts receivable when the
borrowers with overdue payments. The Directors considered that
the amount of the impairment losses was fair and reasonable.

The selling and distribution costs decreased by HK$0.3 million
to HK$3.7 million during the year (2022: HK$4 million),
representing an decreased of 7.5% against the year of 2022.
The administrative expenses increased by approximately HK$4
million to approximately HK$42 million during the year (2022:
HK$38 million) representing a increase of 10.5% against the
year of 2022.

As a result, the loss attributable to owners of the Company
was HK$49.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 as
compared with a loss of HK$43 million in 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

Industry Review

Although the tourism arrival in the Asia Pacific region is showing
positive growth, many destinations in the region have yet to
achieve or surpass pre-pandemic arrival levels. There is still
a large degree of cautiousness when it comes to spending on
trade media channels. International travel and tourism recovery
from pre-pandemic in the Asia Pacific is uneven with some
destinations doing better than others. Higher cost of airfares,
strengthening of some currencies and geopolitical uncertainties
are some of the stumbling blocks. Passengers’ traffic in 2023
from the top 10 international airports in the region showed an
average of 78% recovery compared to pre-pandemic level in
2019. The recovery ranges from low of 55% for Hong Kong
International Airport to high of 99% for Delhi International
Airport. The pace of recovery is expected to continue in 2024
but slow and gradual.

Travel Media Business

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Travel Media
Business recorded a revenue of HK$2.4 million, decreased by
83.9% or HK$12.5 million as compared with that of HK$14.9
million in 2022. This amount represented 5.7% of the Group’s
total revenue for the year under review.

The business recorded a segment loss of HK$0.6 million this
year, representing a decrease of HK$7.5 million with that a
segment loss of HK$8.1 million in last year.

Financial Magazine And Other Media Business

During the year, the Group engaged in provision of contents
and advertising services through travel and financial magazine,
internet and other media channels. The Group timely grasped the
opportunity in advertising on digital platform and other media
channels.

Revenue from this business was HK$38.4 million, which
contributed 90.8% of the Group’s total revenue for the year
under review. Segmental losses of this business during the year
amounted to HK$15.9 million.

Securities Investment

As at 31 December 2023, total market value for the held for
trading investments of the Group was approximately HK$12.6
million and recorded fair value gain of approximately HK$3
million. During the current years, the Group realised a loss
on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$1 million (2022: gain HK$5 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MONEY LENDING BUSINESS

During the year, the Group conducts its money lending business.
The Group’s clientele primarily consists of niche customers
including corporations and individuals. Most of the clients were
acquired through business referrals and introductions from the
Company’s directors, senior management, business partners or
clients. Besides in compliance with all rules and regulations
imposed under the MLO, the Group has also formulated internal
money lending policy to guide the money lending operations.
The loan terms would be arrived at after considering a
combination of factors including prevalent market interest rates,
the financial strength of the borrower, the collaterals offered as
past credit history of the borrower with the Group and adjusted,
if necessary, by arms-length negotiations with the borrower.

Revenue from this business was HK$1 million, which accounted
for 2.4% of the Group’s total revenue for the year. A total
principal amount and accrued interest of approximately HK$9.9
million remain outstanding. The Group retained an independent
professional valuer to conduct impairment assessment on the
outstanding loans in view of the deteriorated financial status
of certain borrowers during the year. The Group will closely
monitor to the status of the receivables, keep updated the status
of the borrower and take relevant actions including but not
limited to communicate to the borrowers and take reference
to their explanation for the failure of repayment, their updated
financial status, their steps to correct their problems and new
schedule for repayment etc.

Business Model

In respect of the money lending business, the Group targeted on
variety of customers including individuals and corporations by
providing secured or unsecured loans. The source of customers
is mainly past customers or referrals by third parties. Loans are
mainly of unsecured loans by three individuals which had a
good standing on their background and income proof and they
were referred by the past customers with good standing on the
loan and interest repayment. The source of funds for the money
lending business is funded by the internal resources of the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DN

Major Terms of Loans Granted

As at 31 December 2023, loan receivables with the aggregate
gross principal amount approximately of HK$11,000,000 and
HK$Nil interest receivables (2022: gross principal amount of
HK$11,000,000 and HK$823,000 interest receivables) were
due from three (2022: three) independent third parties. The
interest rates of the loan receivables range from 8% to 10% per
annum (2022: 8% to 10% per annum.) on the principals from
HK$3,500,000 to HK$4,000,000 (2022: from HK$3,500,000
to HK$4,000,000). Three (2022: three) of the loan receivables
are unsecured, of which the largest loan receivables of
approximately HK$4,000,000. Three of loan receivables were
repayable in 2024.

Loan Impairments

The loan impairment was recognised due to the expected credit
losses. In 2023, the economic downturn will be continued due
to the continuation of the epidemic and the outbreak of new
wave of epidemic in the first quarter of 2022 which may affect
the repayment ability of the borrower, thus affecting the Group’s
expectation to each of the borrowers on their ability to repay
their debts. Therefore, when estimating the default rate of loan
receivables, the Group considered that the default rate of each
borrowers increased in 2022. Besides, the Group based on the
borrowers” current financial status by communicating with the
borrowers, referring to their past and current repayment records,
loan terms, and the value of the collaterals, and will make
further additional independent adjustments, to calculate the loan
impairment for the year.

Internal Controls

The Group manages credit risk through review and credit
approval and post-transaction monitoring processes which are
performed by management. Before the loans were granted, an
independent credit risk assessment has been performed. The
independent credit risk assessment including but not limited
to the background check, income or asset proof of individual
customers and financial reports of corporate customers and the
verification of the authenticity of the information provided, to
ensure the recovery ability of the loan.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Company has adopted the procedures on monitoring loan
repayment and recovery which involve (a) the borrowers is
required to report on the financial or business performance
periodically; (b) it is required to report to the Company for
any material defaulted loans immediately upon occurrence;
In respect of delinquent loans, the standard demand letters
will be issued. If no satisfactory response is received, formal
legal demand letters will be issued. Thereafter formal legal
proceedings may be issued where appropriate.

VIRTUAL REALITY BUSINESS

Revenue from this business was approximately HK$0.6 million
for the year, which accounted for approximately 1.4% of the
Group's total revenue for the year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no investment
exceed 5% on total assets of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023.

PROSPECT

We will actively expand the customer base and will explore
business opportunities in the area of the financial magazine
and other media business and seek the better opportunities in
other industry with potential in particular. In addition, we will
continue to focus on enhancing our service efficiency in order
to minimize costs and time, and be more responsive to the
changing market conditions and the service demand. We have
also been adjusting our strategies to reduce markup multiples
and will continue to focus on enhancing our service value and
brand building.

The Directors endeavor to seek more business opportunities
in the financial industry as well as other industries to diversify
the Group's existing business stream to enhance the long-term
benefits of the Company and the shareholders as a whole.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group generally financed its operations with its internally
generated cash flows. The Group’s total equity was HK$51.6
million as at 31 December 2023, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$51.2 million as compared with that
of HK$102.8 million as at 31 December 2022. Total assets
amounted to HK$85.1 million as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$110.4 million), of which HK$21.1 million (2022: HK$31.2
million) as bank balances and cash, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, held for trading was HK$12.6 million
(2022: HK$6.6 million).

Capital structure

As of 31 December 2023, the Group’s consolidated net assets
was HK$51.6 million, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$51.2 million as compared with that of HK$102.8 million in
2022.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company has 147,540,930
shares of HK$0.04 each in issue. The value of share capital was
approximately HK$5.9 million as at 31 December 2023 (31
December 2022: approximately HK$5.9 million).

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES
No fund raising activities was held during the year ended 31
December 2023.

Charges on the Group's assets

There was no charges on the Group’s assets as at 31 December
2023 and 2022.

Borrowings
The Group has no borrowings for financial institutions as at 31

December 2023 and 2022.

The gearing ratio (net debts divided by shareholders’ equity) was
Nil as at 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates and any
related hedges

The majority of the Group’s assets and liabilities and business
transactions were denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong
dollars. During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the Group had not entered into any hedging arrangements.
However, the management will continue to monitor closely its
foreign currency exposure and requirements and to arrange for
hedging facilities when necessary.

Contingent liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liability as at 31
December 2023 and 2022.

Employee information

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 27 (2022: 42)
employees, of which 8 (2022: 13) were based in Hong Kong, 18
(2022: 15) in China and 1 (2022: 14) in Singapore. The Group'’s
employees are remunerated largely based on their performance
and experience, alongside with the current industry practices.
The Group has introduced share option scheme to recognize
the contributions of the employees to the growth of the Group.
The scheme has been or will be amended from time to time to
take into account changes in market conditions and the GEM
Listing Rules. Remuneration packages of employees include
salaries, insurance, medical cover, mandatory provident fund,
discretionary bonuses and share option (if any).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Wang Tao (“Mr. Wang”)

Mr. Wang, aged 66, was graduated from the Hebei University
with a bachelor’s degree of Engineering in 1982. He has
accumulated more than 20 years of experience in investment
and construction management. Mr. Wang was the deputy general
managers of a private real estate development company located
in Beijing since 2004. Mr. Wang was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 29 September 2015.

Yu Tat Chi (“Mr. Yu”)

Mr. Yu, aged 59, holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the
University of New South Wales, Australia. He is a fellow member
of the CPA Australia and a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Yu is also a founding
member of The Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive Director
Association. Mr. Yu has many years of experience in accounting,
corporate finance and asset management. He had held senior
management positions in listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr.
Yu is currently an independent non-executive director of Golden
Resources Development International Limited (a company listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 677); Applied Development
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 519); China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited
(a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8071);
Lerado Financial Group Company Limited (a company listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1225); Harbour Digital Asset
Capital Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 913) and WT Group Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8422) respectively. Mr.
Yu has been an independent non-executive director of EVOC
Intelligent Technology Company Limited (a company listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2308 and was delisted from the
Stock Exchange on 28 October 2022) from May 2016 to May
2021.

With effect from 1 February 2024, Mr. Yu was promoted as an
executive Director. Mr Yu is also the Company Secretary and the
Authorized Representative of the Company since 19 November
2021.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EENGREEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Lee Yim Wah (“Ms. Lee”)

Ms. Lee, aged 51, she has over 20 years of experience in the
trading industry and has rich knowledge in sales and marketing.
Ms. Lee was appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director
and a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee on 31 March 2016.

Chow Yee Ting (“Ms. Chow”)

Ms. Chow, aged 29, has over 4 years of experience in the
media, editorial and content management, and public relations
industries. Ms. Chow holds a directorship in a Hong Kong media
advertising company. She serves as senior management and
oversee the day-to-day operations. She is also responsible for
monitoring business performance and contents of the business.

Ms. Chow was appointed as Independent Non-Executive
Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee on 18
July 2023.

Yeung Man Sun (Former name: Yeung Hiu Chong and
Yeung Yiu Chong) (“Mr. Yeung”)

Mr. Yeung, aged 43, he is currently a senior management of a
Hong Kong listed company and runs his own certified public
accountant’s firm. He has 20 years of experience in auditing,
taxation, financial management and advisory services field
for an international accounting firm, several corporations and
other listed companies. Mr. Yeung holds a Bachelor’s Degree of
Business Administration (Honours) in Accountancy from City
University of Hong Kong and a Master’s Degree in Corporate
Governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He
is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, The Chartered Governance Institute and The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute as well as a member
of the Society of Registered Financial Planners. He is also an
independent non-executive director of Emperor Entertainment
Hotel Limited (Stock Code: 296). He has been an independent
non-executive director of Simplicity Holding Limited, a company
listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8367)
from August 2021 to October 2023. He has been an independent
nonexecutive director of My Heart Bodibra Group Limited, a
company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
8297), from February 2018 to December 2018.

Mr. Yeung was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and a Chairman of each of the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 1
February 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHE

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in travel media operations with
provision of advertising services through the internet and travel
magazines, event organizing services and magazine publication;
provision of contents and advertising services in multiple well-
known financial magazine distributed in the PRC and provision
of advertising services through the internet and others media
channels; investment in securities and money lending. Details of
the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by operating
segment is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 is set out in “Director’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

Environmental Policies

The Group is committed to reducing its carbon footprint and
consumption of natural resources in all possible aspects of
business operations. Our environmental strategy is to achieve a
balance between the quality and efficiency of our services and
the minimization of greenhouse gas emissions and environmental
degradation. Accordingly, the Group has taken a proactive
approach to effect internal and external communications by
means of telephone, emails and conferences or such other
communication means which are efficient yet environmentally
friendly. Also, the Group are able to minimize physical travelling
and printing.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements and the risk of non-compliance
with such requirements. The Company is not aware of any non-
compliance in any material respect with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Relationship with Employees

The employees of the Group are one of the most important assets
and the stakeholders of the Group and their contribution and
support are of values at all times. The Group regularly reviews
compensation and benefit policies accordingly to industry
benchmark as well as the individual performance of employees.
Other fringe benefits, mandatory provident fund and share
options (if any) are provided to retain loyal employees aiming at
forming a professional staff and management team that can bring
the Group to a higher level of success.

Relationships with Customers and Suppliers

The Directors believe that maintaining a good relationship with
customers is one of the critical reasons for the Group’s success.
Our business model is to maintain and build up on our strong
relationship with our client base. Our mission is to provide the
finest services to our customers and the Group is constantly
looking ways to improve customer relation through enhanced
services. Also, the Group has maintained good relationship with
the suppliers to ensure their continued support to the Group in
the foreseeable future.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year are set out in “Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income” of
this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out in “Financial
Summary” of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year in the property, plant
and equipment of the Group are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital
of the Company are set out in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements. As at 31 December 2023, the Company has
147,540,930 shares of HK$0.04 each in issue. The value of share
capital was approximately HK$5,902,000 as at 31 December
2023 (31 December 2022: approximately HK$5,902,000).

Details of movements during the year in the share options are
set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements and
“SHARE OPTION SCHEME” section contained in this directors’
report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHE

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s by-law, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata
basis to existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in “Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity” and in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the distributable reserves of the
Company amounted to Nil (2022: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy pursuant to which
the Company may declare and distribute dividends to the
shareholders of the Company.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject
to the absolute discretion of the Board, and any declaration
of final dividend will be subject to the approval of the
shareholders. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board
shall also take into account, inter alia, the Group’s operations,
earnings, financial condition, cash requirements and availability,
capital expenditure and future development requirements and
other factors it may deem relevant at such time. Any payment of
the dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions
under the articles of association of the Company and all
applicable laws and regulations.

The dividend policy will be reviewed from time to time and
there is no assurance that a dividend will be proposed or
declared in any specific periods.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company’s listed securities.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME” in this directors’ report and note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements
were entered into by the Company for the year ended
31 December 2023 or subsisted at the end of the year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year amounted to approximately HK$Nil (2022: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, sales attributable to
the Group’s largest customer accounted for 14% of the Group’s
total sales and aggregate sales attributable to the five largest
customers of the Group accounted for 43% of the Group’s total
sales.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, purchases attributable to
the Group’s largest supplier accounted for 41% of the Group’s
total purchases and aggregate purchases attributable to the five
largest suppliers of the Group accounted for 90% of the Group's
total purchases.

To the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, nor
their close associates, nor any shareholder owning more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital had any interests in any of
the five largest customers or suppliers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, except for those disclosed in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had no transactions
with its related parties.

The Directors conducted review of the related party transactions
of the Group during the year and were not aware of any
transactions requiring disclosure of connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions in accordance with the GEM
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Wang Tao

Yu Tat Chi (promoted on 1 February 2024)
Yang Xingan (resigned on 18 July 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Lee Yim Wah

Chow Yee Ting (appointed on 18 July 2023)
Yeung Man Sun (appointed on 1 February 2024)
Wang Qingling (resigned on 18 July 2023)

Yang Shuyan (resigned on 1 February 2024)
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In accordance with article 85 of the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”), Mr. Yu Tat Chi, Mr. Yeung Man Sun and
Ms. Chow Yee Ting shall retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of 2 years.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 12 and 13 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval
at general meetings. Other emoluments are reviewed and
recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company
with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities, performance
and the results of the Group.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors and senior management
are set out in “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors (the “INED(s)”) an annual confirmation
of their independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company considers all the INEDs are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which
is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-law and subject to the relevant
provisions therein, the Directors, company secretary and other
officers shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they may
incur by execution of their duties in their respective offices or
otherwise in relation thereto.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board is not
aware of any business or interest of each director and the
respective close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing
Rules) of each that competes or may compete with the business
of the Group and any other conflicts of interest which any such
person has or may have with the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in which
a Director or a connected entity of that Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting during or at the
end of the year.

ARRANGEMENTS FOR DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the
Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions in
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors of
the Company as set out in rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules as follow:

Long position/short position in shares of the Company

Long position/

Name Capacity short position
RS 4% BRKR
Mr Wang Tao Beneficial owner Long Position
FEEE BEaBEAA S

Note:

1. The relevant percentage is calculated by reference to the Shares in
issue on 31 December 2023, i.e. 147,540,930 shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of
the Directors of the Company had any other interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which
were required, pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules relating to the
required standard of dealings by the directors to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, those persons (other than Directors
and chief executive of the Company) who had interests and
short positions in shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company

Name Number of shares
## R4 8 E
Niu Chengjun (Note 1) 22,336,184
FRE (HET)

Note: (1) The relevant percentage is calculated by reference to the

shares in issue on 31 December 2023, i.e. 147,540,930
shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no person
(other than Directors and chief executive of the Company) had
notified the Company any interests or short positions in shares
or underlying shares of the Company which was recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 336
of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2013 Share
Option Scheme”) on 31 December 2013, which was approved
by the shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on the same date.

The purpose of the 2013 Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Group to grant share options to eligible participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the growth of the
Group and to provide the Group with a more flexible means to
reward, remunerate, compensate and/or provide benefits to the
eligible participants.

The 2013 Share Option Scheme was expired on 31 December
2023.
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The table below shows the details on the movement of the
outstanding share options granted to all grantees under the

TRIFNBE-_T_=F+_A=+—H
RigZatERPABEARAC KL ARTT

Scheme as at 31 December 2023. 2 ERENEBFE-
Number
Outstanding Number of options Number Outstanding
Closing price share options of shares exercised  options lapsed  share options
Exercise Immediately as at Number of Underlying during the during the asat
Name or category price before the ~ Vesting 1 January options  share options reporting reporting 31 December
of grantee Date of grant pershare  dateof grant  date  Exercisable period 2023 granted granted period period 2023
R R
ZECZE —§-z=f
RERY -B-H BRH REEHE REEHE t=A=+-A
RfEz BE HARTEZ 536 BREZ B2 BAHZ MRTEZ
RRAZEAARE RHBH BRITRE BmE BH  TTEEE BREHE HAERHHA BREHE BREHA BRE
(HKS) (HKS)
(81) (#7)
Director
gz
Mr. Wang Tao 11 April 2022 0.3272 0312 None 11 April 2022 to 1,157,450 - - - - 1,157,450
10 April 2024
IEEE “RCCFNAT-H & “R--EMAT-RE
—ZT-ME@ATA
Other employees
HitES
10 employees 9 April 2021 0.328 0308 None 9 April 2021 to 8 April 2023 7,716,400 - - - (7,716,400) -
105E8 “E--%¥WANA & “R--FMANRE
ZRIZERANR
9 employees 11 April 2022 0.3272 0312 None 11 April 2022 to 10,417,050 - - - - 10,417,050
10 April 2024
9% &R “R-CEMAT-H & SERCCEMAT-HE
“RCMERATH
Total 19,290,900 - - - (7,716,400 11,574,500
Foh
The Outstanding share options as at the 1 January 2023 and 31 RZ-ZE-_=F—A—-—HREZ-ZT_=F1+=

December 2023 for Mr Wang Tao, the Executive Director of the
Company was 1,157,450.

The Outstanding share options as at the 1 January 2023 and
31 December 2023 for the employees of the Company were
18,133,450 and 10,417,050 respectively.

Since the 2013 Share Option Scheme was expired on 31
December 2023, no share options available for grant under this
Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2023.

The total number of securities available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme was 11,574,500, representing approximately
7.84% of the entire issued share capital of the Company. The
relevant percentage is calculated by reference to the weighted
average number of shares for the year ended 31 December 2023
of approximately 147,540,900.

26 Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

B=Z+—H AR TES T ELARE
BRI ARITEEEAEA1,157,45010 °

R =F—A—BAK-_ZT-_=F+_
A=+—B ARAFEEFEEHNHKRITE
EIRREE D B A18,133,45010 510,417,050

,f/\ °

MR T - =—FBRETIE =
FH+-_A=+t—RHER BBE_FT=
FT-A=+— EMEHHETJ‘EEZQ%HﬂEEJEJ
AT (IR R A

50_3

BIEBRETS TRBEITNELFRES
11,574,5000% " HHE R A QR 2 E 17
PRA%)7.84% - BB AL DB EEE—
Bl — A =1 — Etifﬂ’]ﬂxﬁbu
B A147,540,90008 51 &

ANNUAL REPORT 2023



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set
up by the remuneration committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed and
recommended by the remuneration committee, having regard
to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of the
scheme is set out in “SHARE OPTION SCHEME” section of this
directors’ report.

PENSION SCHEME

Details of the pension scheme of the Group and the employer’s
pension costs charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income for the year are set out in
notes 30 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the financial year.

COMPANY SECRETARY AND COMPLIANCE
OFFICER

Details of company secretary and compliance officer of the
Company is set out in “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float (i.e. at least 25% of the issued
shares were held by the public) as required by the GEM Listing
Rules during the year and up to the date of this report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice of annual general meeting of the Company will be
published on the website of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) at www.hkex.com.hk and the
website of the Company at www.sinosplendid.com, as well as
despatched to shareholders of the Company in due course.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023 were audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited
(“Elite Partners”).

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual
general meeting to re-appoint Elite Partners as the auditor of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
Wang Tao
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERHRE

ABOUT THE GROUP

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited (the “Company” or “Sino
Splendid”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”, “we”, “us” or “our”) aim to be the most influential
and leading media publisher and event and exhibition organizer
in regard to its company vision. The Group is committed to
achieving the business goals and success, while simultaneously
integrating and adopting environmentally friendly measures;
providing a safe and decent working environment for our
employees, and achieving sustainable values for our stakeholders
and communities.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group is principally
engaged in the following areas, including:

1. Travel media operations with provision of advertising
services through the internet and travel magazines, event
organizing services, and magazine publication (“Travel
Media Business”);

2. Provision of contents and advertising services in multiple
well-known financial magazines distributed in The People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) (“Financial Magazine and Other
Media Business”);

3. investment in securities (“Securities Investment”);
4. money lending (“Money Lending Business”); and

5. virtual reality business (“Virtual Reality Business”).

ESG GOVERNANCE

The Group recognizes the importance of sustainable
development. Sustainability is crucial for the Group’s growth
in order to achieve business excellence and enhance long-term
competitiveness. The Group has established and implemented
various policies to manage and monitor the risks related to
the environment, employment, operating practices, and the
community. The Group always attaches great importance to
environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) issues and has the
following responsibilities:

e review and monitor ESG-related issues on a regular basis;
e collect and compile data on ESG-related issues;

e analyse and report on the legal and moral compliance of
the ESG-related issues; and

e consult and jointly work with independent professionals and
consultants to overcome ESG challenges, if required.
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BIE e R EARE

The key message of the Group’s sustainability mission is to
reinforce the positive correlation between risk management and
governance, followed by product innovation and management
innovation. The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
oversees the ESG management of the Group and has overall
responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting. The
Board leads and provides direction to management by instituting
ESG policies and initiatives, supervising their implementation
and monitoring ESG performance. ESG mindset should be
inherently integrated into daily operations and business decision-
making. In particular, the Board pays close attention to the risks
brought about by environmental and climate change, which are
critical to the media business. With proper risk management,
the Group is poised to capture various opportunities brought by
environmental change and to make respective policy adjustments
accordingly.

In order to have better management of ESG-related issues,
the Board delegated the management to set up an ESG
working group for the daily operation of the ESG strategy. The
ESG working group comprises representatives from various
departments and has been established to plan and coordinate
ESG initiatives within the Company. This working group helps to
coordinate the day-to-day execution of our ESG strategy and is
supervised by members of the senior management.

The Group recognizes that ESG policies and practices may
change over time in order to cope with the changes in its
business operations, organizational structures, technology
development, statutory requirements and the business and social
environment, etc. Hence, the Group is committed to providing
adequate resources to monitor the changes and enhance our
ESG capabilities to cope with such changes on an ongoing basis.
In addition, the Group acknowledges its moral obligation to
maintain a high ethical standard by maintaining transparency in
conducting business. The Group is adamant that it will continue
to be law-abiding and be in compliance with the rules and
regulations to achieve its goal of sustainable development in the
environment, society and employees.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group continues to engage the key stakeholders, such as
Board members, managers, employees, regulators, external
experts, and suppliers, through daily interactions and working
closely with them to discuss and review areas of attention via
various communication channels.
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Materiality Assessment

R - HERERBRE

ERMTMME

Identifying the material ESG issues that matter the most to the FHAIHANEEMSEHAEEZRNESCHEE R
Group is a prerequisite for setting the framework for the ESG I E ESG ¥ &5 HE 28 f Il 7F ESG B HE KBS 1Y
Report and formulation of ESG management strategies. As such, AIfE-Hlt AEBEHETAISESH
the Group regularly conducts internal materiality assessments &F{f A EHAEESEEZM A FEL
to determine the sustainability issues that matter the most to the REE B2 EARMIBFEZEEREN
Group, which will become the main focus of our sustainability FZE% WiEEBBRENE -
strategy and facilitate the implementation of relevant initiatives.

Through the materiality assessment, the Group has identified @& 2T RNEE S H A HKMH
the key ESG topics that are “relevant” and “important” to our XM =B B R [EZ |8 ESC
business. Based on the result of the materiality assessment, the FHBE - REBEEZUHFEHLER U TAAK
issues listed below are of high priority to the Group: SEELERNFR:

Aspects
B m

Social Aspect
tEEE

Employment

&%

Health and Safety

Development and Training

EEYrEEEl

Labour Standards
BT AR

Supply Chain Management

e g e 12

RESRRE R AR

Material ESG Issues
EESGEE

Employee welfare

Inclusion and equal opportunities
Talent attraction and retention
BEEA

BREFERSE

WSl e AT

Occupational health and safety
BEEREZE

Development and Training

R R

Prevention of child and forced labour
FribZE Tekagm 8T

Supply chain management
Labour standards in supply chain
HEBERE

HEgEss T 2R
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Aspects Material ESG Issues
Bm ERESGEE
Product Responsibility Economic value generated

Protection of intellectual property rights
Customer satisfaction
Protection of customer privacy

EmaE EENEEEE
R o R EE T
EFMEE
RERF LR
Anti-corruption Corporate governance
Anti-corruption
RES ©EER
RES
Community Investment Community investment
tERE HERE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Scope and Boundary

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report”) provides a detailed disclosure of the sustainability

performance, policies, and strategies of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting Period”).

We apply the concept of materiality in the planning and
developing process of the ESG Report. Unless otherwise
indicated, the scope of the ESG Report covers the Company and
all its subsidiaries.
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Reporting Principles

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. According to
the guideline, the following principles are underpinned:

1. Materiality: ESG issues that have major impacts on investors
and other stakeholders must be set out in this ESG Report.

2. Quantitative: If the key performance indicators (KPIs) have
been established, they must be measurable and applicable
to valid comparisons under appropriate conditions. They
must also be able to describe the purpose and impacts of
quantitative information.

3. Balance: This ESG Report must provide an unbiased
picture of the ESG performances of the Group. It should
avoid selecting, omitting, or presentation formats that may
inappropriately influence a decision or judgment by the
readers.

4. Consistency: This ESG Report should use consistent and
statistical methodologies to allow meaningful comparisons
of related data over time. Any changes to the methods used
must be specified in the ESG Report.

Confirmation

The information documented in this ESG Report is sourced and
collected by the Group from official documents, statistical data,
management, and operation information in accordance with
relevant internal policies. The Group has established internal
control systems and a formal review process to ensure that any
information presented in this ESG Report is as accurate and
reliable as possible. In case of any discrepancy between the
English and Chinese versions, the English version shall prevail.

Feedback

The Group discloses the latest business and ESG-related
information regularly to investors and the public. We also
welcome investors and shareholders to share their views with
the Board of the Company by fax at +852 2237 7227 or via
email at info@sinosplendid.com.

RESRRE R AR

& R Al
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

As a responsible enterprise, the Group makes every endeavour
to take effective environmental protection measures to minimize
the environmental impacts caused by the business operation.
The Group strictly complies with the relevant environmental
laws and regulations in Hong Kong and Singapore, such as
Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Waste Disposal Ordinance,
Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance, Water Pollution
Control Ordinance, and Noise Control Ordinance. During the
Reporting Period, no non-compliance with any environmental
protection laws and regulations that had a significant impact
on the Group relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous wastes had been identified.

Use of Resources

Given the Group’s business nature, the Group and its
daily operations have little negative impacts on the natural
environment. The Group only consumes the following resources
in insignificant amounts:

e electricity consumption to carry out its activities;

e freshwater supplies for general offices and maintaining
staff’s daily hygiene;

e fuel consumption used for business travel;

e packaging materials in the form of paper and paper bags;
and

e paper for printing and files.

We also promote the efficient use of resources under the 3R
(“Reduce, Reuse and Recycle”) approach in our Environmental
Policies and Guidelines.

Energy Use

The Group drives to reduce the energy use of both office
operations and event activities. As an environmentally friendly
measure, we have installed energy-saving equipment and
devices where feasible. During the Reporting Period, the total
energy consumption was 179.18 gigajoule (“G)”); and the energy
intensity was 4.23 GJ per million HKD revenue.

Although energy use is not one of the material ESG topics, the
Group will continue to monitor the energy consumption and
improve efficiency in all operations. The Group is developing
its long-term reduction targets. In short term, the Group targets
to maintain or reduce the energy consumption level during the
Reporting Period by 2023.
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Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type:

Use of resources

BRER

— — =

—_— =

Direct energy consumption
ERERBERE

Indirect energy consumption
BZEREREE

Total energy consumption
BERAREE

Intensity (by revenue)

wmE (WA

Water Use

Owing to the business and operation nature, the Group only
consumes freshwater for general office and daily uses, and all
its supplies are from the city’s central water supply network.
There was no water sourcing issue during the Reporting Period.
Although the total volume of water consumption is insignificant,
the Group implemented policies and guidelines encouraging our
employees to adopt good practices for water-saving as freshwater
is one of the most valuable natural resources on the planet today.
During the Reporting Period, the total water consumption was
243.21 cubic meters (“m*”); and the water intensity was 5.75 m?
per million HKD revenue. The Group is developing its long-term
reduction targets. In short term, the Group targets to maintain or
reduce the water consumption level during the Reporting Period
by 2023.

Water consumption in total and intensity:
Water consumption 2023
RKE —2-=F
Total water consumption 243.21
HAKE
Intensity (by revenue) 5.75
wmE (B aE)

G ES 3 EETT)

2023

179.18

179.18

4.23

WRBBDMERNKREEERER:

2022 Unit
- B
226.7 GJ
HE
79.56 GJ
HE
306.26 GJ
HE
4.62 GJ/HKD million
HEAEET
K E IR &

RAEBREEHEFER NEBEBEBEREE
— A R B E BB mATAE AKX
HREH AR REKEL - RIREHIR
7N £ B P Sk BUE A KR 5 E I T {A]
BE-BEBRRKERK BEXAEBDEK
BERIES  SBEEENGHOHAKOER
HEE BAAXKENSHIK FREER
AAREBRZ — HNBREHE BREKES
2321 A K BKREERBEEE T
#5.753 J7 oK o A B IR IE 7 #l F R EAED
KBFEEZ-REME AEEMEEZR
E_ZE-_=FR#BEERERSHHEN
BKE-

LRKERBKEE:
2022 Unit
—E-= B

19.7 m?3
AN

0.29 m3*/HKD million
SAKSBBET

TEC=FFR 35
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Emissions
Air Emissions

R

In the Group’s operations, there are no industrial or commercial

processes with direct fuel combustion which cause air emissions
locally. In the Reporting Period, vehicle use in our Singapore
operation is the sole source of air pollutants, and the emission

figures are shown in the table below.
Air emissions:

Air emissions

BER R E

Nitrogen oxides (NOx)

RAE(LP) (NOx)

Sulphur oxides (SOx)

i &L (SOx)

Respirable suspended particles (RSP)
AR A BB KL F (RSP)

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

2023
—m— =

0.0
0.0

0.0

The main sources of the Group’s greenhouse gas (“GHG")
emissions include direct emissions from the combustion of
fuels in vehicles (“Scope 1”), indirect emissions of purchased
electricity (“Scope 2”), and other indirect emissions (“Scope 3”)
respectively. In the Reporting Period, the total GHG emissions
were 34.65 tonnes of CO,-equivalent. The scope 3 emissions
included the greenhouse gases emitted from the paper waste
disposed at landfills, business air travel and water and sewage

processing. For details, please refer to the table below.

Greenhouse gas emissions:

Emissions’

B E

Scope 1 emissions
BENHRE

Scope 2 emissions
SEERBENE

Scope 3 emissions
BEBHRE

Total greenhouse gas emissions
BRERBHREE

Intensity (by revenue)

7K (RWaET)

2023
—E-=F

33.85
0.80
34.65

0.82

! EPA’s GHG Emission Factors Hub, HK electric, Defra emission
factors has been used for the purpose of GHG Emissions

calculations.
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Unit
—=E=-— B

5.1 kg
TR

0.0 kg
T

0.0 kg
T
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SEERERAEBENNEEZRRLIEETHR
BIMBEEEMBEZER([EE]) - BA
BEHWBESER ([SEE2]) M EmREEE
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AR E A34.65M8 —FLIRE £ - S E3HE
MEREZEERHEERBAOEL ZRFLR
A K 55K BRI FTHE IR A B = RBE -
FIEBE2E TR

2022 Unit
—E--F B
15.6 Tonnes CO,-e

WS LiRE =
9.0 Tonnes CO,-e
WA LIREE
Tonnes CO,-e
WE_—_ S| B E
Tonnes CO,-e
W — S LiRE =
Tonnes CO,-e/
HKD million
WE &b E &
ER- 33

14.2

38.8

0.58

L AEREREENNEERERRRIRE
RERBNBEREREHEMRAT BB
Defra BE A F ©
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As GHG emissions are the key cause of climate change, the
Group shall continue to monitor the carbon footprint of our
operations and identify possible areas for mitigating our impacts
on the environment. The Group is developing its long-term
reduction targets. In short term, the Group targets to maintain or
reduce the greenhouse gas emissions level during the Reporting
Period by 2023.

Waste Generation

The Group’s operations and activities do not generate
any hazardous waste; whereas an insignificant amount
of non-hazardous waste such as living and office wastes
are produced from the offices. In the Reporting Period, an
insignificant amount of non-hazardous waste was produced, and
the waste has been sent to landfills. We shall continue to keep
track of the amount of waste produced from our operations. No
reduction targets have been set for waste generation due to its
insignificant amount.

The Environment and Natural Resources

As a corporate citizen, the Group understands and respects that
we have a responsibility to the environment. The Environmental
Policies and Guidelines are implemented with an aim to
minimize the impact on the environment and natural resources.
Due to the business nature, the impacts of the activities on
the environment and natural resources are not material for
disclosure.

Climate Change

In recent years, climate change is a global environmental
problem affecting both Singapore and Hong Kong. It has
become a main world trend that all countries join hands to
respond to climate change and promote green and low-carbon
development. The physical and transition risks caused by climate
change may influence the business operation of the Group.

Average global temperature and sea levels are expected to rise
if carbon emissions from human activities continue to grow
unchecked, and the frequency and intensity of extreme weather
events are likely to increase. Extreme weather events can lead to
changes in rainfall patterns, resulting in more severe rainfall or
typhoons. The Group will review the existing measures to ensure
the safety of its employees during extreme weather.

Besides, changes in laws and regulations due to climate
change may also have impacts on business operation. Policy
changes regarding carbon emission restriction, carbon pricing
and reporting obligations may increase the Group’s operating
costs. The Group will monitor the issuance of new laws and
regulations and access the risk posted to the Group timely to
mitigate the effects to the Group.
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The Group recognizes that the emission of greenhouse gases is
one of the factors leading to climate change. Although there are
no industrial or commercial processes in the daily operation, the
Group will still promote a green lifestyle among the employees
and strive to reduce the use of vehicles and electricity. The
Group will do its part to reduce emissions while ensuring that it
continues to grow and prosper.

SOCIAL ASPECTS

Employment and Labour Practices

The management of the Group believes that employees are
the most valuable asset and an indispensable part of our
business. Through the Human Resources Department, the
Group has adopted fair and equitable policies and practices, to
pursue and provide a safe and pleasant working environment
for all employees, regardless of age, gender, family status,
sexual orientation, ethnicity, creed, and religion, or other
characteristics.

The Group also recognizes the importance and necessity of
continuing training for the growth and development of its
employees. Therefore, the Group strives to provide training
opportunities and support in various ways.

Employment

We strictly comply with the relevant laws and regulations in
our employment and labour process, for instance, recruitment,
dismissal, promotion, and remuneration of employees
regardless of where we operate. The legitimate rights and
interests of employees are protected in accordance with laws
and regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not aware of any material non-compliance with laws and
regulations in respect of employment and labour practices, such
as Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, Employment Act of
Singapore, Labour Law and Labour Contract Law of the PRC.

Policies on employees’ rights and benefits, including public
holidays, annual paid leaves, sick leaves and maternity leaves,
have been formulated and executed per the Labour Law and
Labour Contract Law of Hong Kong and Singapore, and Salary
Payment Regulations of the operating regions. Employees in
Hong Kong and Singapore have been provided with Mandatory
Provident Fund (MPF) and Central Provident Fund (CPF).
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The Group formulates its own reward system with reference to
market salary trends. The contribution of individual employees
to the Group is also a major consideration in salary adjustment.
Overall, there are three types of salary adjustment: regular
salary adjustment, seniority salary adjustment, and post-salary
adjustment. There was no change in its recruitment procedure
during this Reporting Period. No major changes have been made
to the appraisal, promotion, reward and penalty system. All
employees are liable for promotion based on their competence
and suitability for specific positions. When there is a vacancy,
priority is given to internal employees.

Equal opportunity is provided to all employees in terms of
promotion, appraisal, training, development and other aspects.
Employees are not discriminated against or deprived of
opportunities based on gender, nationality, ethnic background,
religion, political affiliation, age, marital status, and physical
disability.

The Group mainly recruits local workers with suitable skills.
In line with the continuously growing business scale, the
Group also actively acquires talents from different countries
or background to join our team, which includes Singaporean,
Chinese, and Hong Kong workers. As at the end of the Reporting
Period, the Group had an aggregate of 27 employees, of which 8
were based in Hong Kong, 18 in China and 1 in Singapore.
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Total workforce: BEHEE:
Employment 2023 2022 Unit
&R —®-= —TICF Bfr
Total number of employees 27 42 Employee
BERAAR #iE8
By Gender Male 13 15 Employee
RIERIE D St ZEE
Female 14 27 Employee
ogid %EE
By employment type Full-time 24 41 Employee
REBRALE D £ #ER
Part-time 3 1 Employee
bl ZEE
By age group <=30 3 3 Employee
REWRAERE D 30p% kAT %ER
31-40 16 15 Employee
31-407% “EE
41-50 6 7 Employee
41-505% ZEE
>50 2 17 Employee
5088 0A & %4EE
By employment category Managerial 7 16 Employee
mEEHERE D EIEE %ER
Senior 8 11 Employee
= AR #E8
Middle 10 14 Employee
AR #EE
Junior 2 1 Employee
AR %EE
By function Executive 6 5 Employee
g4 ) rEEE Z1E8
Technical 5 4 Employee
SR #EE
Administrative 11 10 Employee
1T %EE
Production 5 23 Employee
HE #EE
By geographical region Singapore 1 14 Employee
tas: A ) N #E8
Hong Kong 8 13 Employee
B %ER
China 18 15 Employee
B #E8
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Employee turnover rate:'

Employment

ERE

Total employee turnover rate
HEREBRAX

By Gender

24 UE 5y

By employment type
HERERLE D

By age group
WERERE D

By employment category
mEERERE D

By geographical region
i & D

Male

XS
Female

Z
Full-time
Part-time
<=30
30BR 3 AT
31-40
31-405%
41-50
41-507%
>50
505% A &
Managerial
EEE
Senior
=R
Middle

H AR
Junior

UE
Singapore
TN
Hong Kong
i

China

a3

! Turnover formula for 2023 used is:

(Employee count (2022) — Employee count (2023))/Average
(Employee count 2022, Employee count 2023).

RESRRE R AR

2023 2022 Unit
T F Bfu
43 24 %
14 13 %
63 30 %
52 24 %
100 0 %
0 19 %
0 27 %
15 29 %
158 6 %
78 19 %
32 9 %
33 43 %
0 0 %
173 71 %
48 0 %
0 —

R _—FRANRARFEANS:

(BREAB(ZZE-—F) - EBEAHH (=
T-=F)) /T _FREEAHKHE
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Health and Safety

The Group attaches great importance and care to its employees’
health and safety in the workplace and strictly complies with
relevant laws and regulations, which include but not limited
to the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance. The Group
has equipped workplaces with a complete set of required safety
equipment and facilities. All supervisors and site managers are
constantly reminded to ensure that the workplace is safe by
taking all reasonable measures to place employee safety as the
top priority. It is the Group’s belief that all employees have a
duty to look after their safety. The integration of these principles
is the key approach of the Group on the health and safety of
employees.

In Singapore, the Ministry of Manpower performs regular checks
on office safety; occupational health, and safety measures, such
as the use of ladders for retrieving files from high cabinets.
During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have material
non-compliance with the laws and regulations in relation to
occupational safety and health in Hong Kong and Singapore
to prevent occupational health and safety risks and protect the
occupational safety of employees. There were no hazardous
activities involved in the Group’s operations. The Group did not
have any work-related fatal accidents and injuries in 2022 and
2023.

Health and Safety:

Health and Safety
RERZZ —g-=

Number of work-related fatalities
ETERBERMMTH AR

Rate of work-related fatalities

A TERRMIL T A AL =
Lost days due to work injury

AIBERXIIER R

Development and Training

During the Reporting Period, the Group sponsored and organized
a total of 20 hours of training for 13 staff members, representing
48% of our total number of employees.

The Group continuously offers and sponsors training to staff
at all levels and of both genders to enhance their skills and
professional knowledge, which benefits the employees as well as
ultimately the Group. We will continue to explore and support
such a practice in the future.
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Percentage of trained employees: XillEEBA D
Development and Training 2023 2022 Unit
BRI —®=-= —TICF Bfr
Percentage of total employees 48 36 %
trained
BXIEEBOL
By Gender Male 62 47 %
BRI St
Female 36 53 %
ogid
By employee category Managerial 71 27 %
wEBRHE D EEE
Senior 50 40 %
= AR
Middle 30 33 %
R
Junior 50 0 %
I
By Function Executive 83 27 %
e E D rEEE
Technical 60 53 %
530
Administrative 18 20 %
T
Production 60 0 %
HE
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Average training hours completed:

Development and Training

E4EE
Average training hours per
employee

T4 8 TH PR

By Gender Male

RIERIE D Eeis
Female
i

By employee category Managerial

wEBBME D EIEE
Senior
= AR
Middle
AR
Junior
A&

By function Executive

i3 Iy el
Technical
Bty
Administrative
TR
Production
HE

Labour Standards

The Group monitors the recruitment process closely in order
to ensure compliance with relevant rules and regulations.
The Group forbids any child and forced labour and strictly
complies with the Labour Laws of Hong Kong, Employment Act
of Singapore, and other applicable laws and regulations. The
Group strives to provide the required labour protection, safety
and health conditions to ensure employees’ safety during their
services.

We prohibit child and forced labour in any of our operations
including the production process. We have established a strict
protocol for hiring, of which we screen candidates in accordance
with the minimum age of their respective work locations. As the
minimum hiring age is 18 in Singapore, hired employees must
sigh an employment letter to agree on the terms and conditions.

The Group also paid wages and salaries, benefits and
compensations on schedule. During the Reporting Period, there
have been no cases of prosecution against the Group due to
violation of any relevant labour laws and regulations including
but not limited to the prevention of child and forced labour.
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ST I P B B

2023 2022 Unit
-
0.7 0.5 Hour/employee
R E
1.5 0.9 Hour/employee
1R E
1.4 0.3 Hour/employee
AN P
2.9 0.3 Hour/employee
N/ RE
2.5 0.9 Hour/employee
1R E
2.0 0.4 Hour/employee
AN P
10.0 0 Hour/employee
AN
3.3 1.0 Hour/employee
1R E
4.0 2.5 Hour/employee
AN Pl
1.81 0.5 Hour/employee
AN P
4.0 0 Hour/employee
I EE
% IR
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SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group has formulated a Purchase Policy on the principle
that the purchases are not only for fulfilling the business needs
but also integrate social responsibility into purchasing decisions.
All of the suppliers will undergo the following reviewing
processes:

*  Quotation comparison and review of supplier’s offering in
relation to procurement needs as well as track record;

e Outlining of expectations and requirements with
documentation in a formal contract/agreement;

e Confirmation of vendor through mutual acknowledgment of
the agreement;

e Feedback-loop process during the duration of service
between users and the vendor;

e Internal review of vendor satisfaction; and

e Sharing of internal review with vendor for the discussion
of next steps (either continue the contract with the vendor,
confirmation of vendor subject to select deliverables or
termination of the vendor).

Apart from assessing its suppliers on quality, cost, service
and delivery time, the Group also assesses whether potential
suppliers of goods and services have demonstrated that they
also commit to environmental and social responsibilities.
The environmental and social risk assessment for suppliers
would be conducted in a periodical basis based on the news
announcement, ongoing quality or work delivered. The Group’s
concerns in selecting our suppliers include their environmental
and social awareness, such as their policies on the use of
recycled or natural materials and forbidding child and forced
labour employment.
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In addition, cost-saving and efficiency in logistics management
and goods travel are the Group’s guiding criteria affecting our
decisions. The Group has continued to adopt a decentralized
procurement approach at the operational level which is required
to follow the above policy and guiding criteria as strictly as
possible. Subsidiaries are given full autonomy in sourcing
suppliers based on their local business needs. The Group strives
to procure sustainable materials from local suppliers whenever
possible as a part of its effort to promote a low-carbon operation.

The Group also continues to source our supplies from local
suppliers to support local economic development and ensure the
effectiveness of supply. According to the GRI G4 Sustainability
Reporting Guidelines, a local supplier is defined as an
organization that provides a product or service to the reporting
entity and that is based in the same geographical market as
the reporting entity (that is, no transnational payments to the
supplier are made). During the Reporting Period, the Group had
a total of 25 suppliers. 84% of the suppliers were from China
and Hong Kong.
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Supply Chain Management: HEEEIE:

Supply Chain Management 2023 2022 Unit

HEgRER —F=-= —ToF B

Number of suppliers by Supplier

geographical region

miplm &l D E e 2 E B IER

Total number of suppliers 25 110 Supplier

1 8 7 48 2 BHIEE

By geographical region Hong Kong 11 3 Supplier

R E 8 D & HHEERE
Singapore 1 68 Supplier
IR HHEIER
Australia - 1 Supplier
M HHERE
Brunei - — Supplier
RS B IER
Cambodia - 1 Supplier
R 5 B ER
China 10 1 Supplier
T B EE
Germany - — Supplier
R HHER
India - 1 Supplier
EE BHER
Indonesia - 3 Supplier
g1fe HHER
ltaly - — Supplier
BRA BHER
Japan 1 3 Supplier
SN BHER
Korea 1 1 Supplier
5% 5 B EE
Malaysia - — Supplier
P ] HHER
Netherlands - — Supplier
12 B AHER
Philippines - 2 Supplier
FEE HHEE
Spain - 1 Supplier
gl BHER
Sri Lanka - 1 Supplier
HERR BHER
Taiwan 1 1 Supplier
& 2R
Thailand - 22 Supplier
2= BHER
United States - — Supplier
ESE BHER
United Kingdom - 1 Supplier
e HHEE

RESRRE R AR
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With the Group’s belief in the value and benefits of building
trust with the suppliers, we continue to practice a transparent
tendering system for its procurement with the purpose to
eliminate malpractice and bribery incidents in accordance with
the local laws and regulations.

Product Responsibility
Product Responsibility:

Product Responsibility
EmEE

Percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls

EERCEXEMBEPEAELNES L

Number of products and service-related
complaints received

EEBNE®RNMREOEFEE

Product and Service Quality

The Group is deeply aware of the importance of product quality
of its saleable products and services. The Group has established
reporting systems on after-sales services to ensure that service
users and product buyers are satisfied with the products and
services. If there are any disputes, procedures and systems
are in place to timely address any dissatisfaction reported or
discovered. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have
a record of compensating or refunding any sales based on the
quality of our products and services.

Complaint management

Handling customer complaints is an important part of any
business. It is essential to have a process in place to ensure
that customers are satisfied with the service they receive.
This involves explaining why the customer’s complaint was
not addressed and what steps can be taken to prevent similar
issues from occurring in the future. Additionally, the Group also
offers other non-monetary service recovery efforts as a form of
compensation before direct refund. In some cases, it may be
necessary to provide a refund if the customer’s complaint cannot
be resolved through other means.

Protection of Customer Privacy

The Group’s business operation has generated large volumes of
private and confidential information on buyers and suppliers.
We are both morally and legally bound to treat the information
and data carefully and have committed to abiding by the
requirements of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong
Kong and other relevant laws, regulations and requirements.
The data of our customers and suppliers are kept under a secure
system by our senior management, and employees have been
warned not to access or use this information without approval.
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The Group also established “Privacy Policy” aiming to protecting
the privacy and personal information and periodic review of
the policy will be conducted by our corporate IT team. The
Group will not rent, sell or share the personal information of the
clients. The Group did not experience any private information
leakage during the Reporting Period.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group recognizes the importance of intellectual property
rights. The Group duly pays writers and designers who allow the
Group to print and use their intellectual property in its media
publications and international trade events and exhibitions. The
Group was not subject to any litigation for any infringement of
intellectual property rights for the Reporting Period.

Anti-Corruption

The Group is committed to achieving and maintaining
openness, uprightness and accountability of its employees and
all employees are expected to uphold ethical, personal and
professional conduct standards. We have established a set of
stringent policies and code of conduct to emphasise values
of integrity, fairness, transparency and accountability to stand
against corruption and fraud. Our Employees’ Handbook
mentions that all directors, officers and employees of the Group
shall observe and be in compliance with high standards of
ethical behaviour. In addition, the Group's strong stance against
corruption and fraud is communicated to all employees so as to
ensure they are fully aware.

All employees must ensure all expense claims relating to
hospitality, gifts or expenses incurred to third parties are
submitted in accordance with our expenses policy and
specifically record the reason for the expenditure. Employees
may not accept any gift or hospitality from our business partners.
If it is not appropriate to decline the offer of a gift, the gift may
be accepted, provided it is then declared to the Director and
donated to charity.
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Anti-Corruption:

Anti-Corruption
REF —E=-=
Number of concluded legal cases regarding

corruption

EEENESHRRMTEA

Whistle-blowing mechanisms can be triggered by revenues
through email when suspicious of any signs of bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering issues. Staff are encouraged to
raise concerns about any issue or suspicion of malpractice
at the earliest possible stage with Director or the Company
Secretary. Information of the whistle-blower is confidential.
Once discovered and confirmed, the related personnel will be
punished according to the severity of the incident or his/her
employment will be terminated.

To strengthen the anti-corruption practice and enhance its
employees’ awareness on conflicts of interest and integrity
issues, internal training and relevant materials relating to
anti-money laundering and anti-corruption will be provided to
Directors.

The Group was in strict compliance with the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance and no legal case regarding corrupt practices
was brought against the Group or its employees during the
Reporting Period. The Group did not violate any laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the Group relating
to corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

COMMUNITY

Community Investment

The Group is committed to improving our communities and the
lives of stakeholders in our communities. The Group encourages
and supports our staff to take part in volunteer services such
as regularly assisting those in need or poverty and arranging
outdoor activities for disadvantaged groups. Internally, the Group
focuses on providing more job opportunities to new employees,
and improving employees’ working environment and skills by
investing in facilities and training.

The Group also strives to provide employment opportunities for
the disadvantaged, retired and disabled who have completed
retraining courses, and give priority to suppliers who hire
disabled persons.
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX
BRXGN (BB HEREARBEES) AERS

KPIs Disclosure Requirements Sections
ARARER RESRE 3]
1 Governance disclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues; ESG Governance
Structure
BRRE BRESFSURR HELEATENEE: ESGEa
board’s ESG management approach and strategy, ESG Governance

including the process used to evaluate, prioritise and
manage material ESG-related issues) (including risks to
the issuer’s businesses

EEENRE HLEMEAREENHREKE  BENE . ESGER
BRI LERERNIRE L& NEA *H BEE (8
BRUEBTAXBORR) VBRE:

how the board reviews progress made against ESG- ESG Governance
related goals and targets with an explanation of how
they relate to the issuer’s businesses.

EEQUARRE LB RHBEERRIEE WH ESCER
BefmfEET AEBARE-

Reporting Description of, or an explanation on, the application About This Report
Principles of the following Reporting Principles (Materiality,
Quantitative, Consistency) in the preparation of the
ESG report
FEE % JR Al A BEERBRE L hEABRERUAEAT BRARSE
FIERERA (BEEM 2 —BE)
Reporting A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the About This Report
Boundary ESG report and describing the process used to identify

which entities or operations are included in the ESG
report. If there is a change in the scope, the issuer
should explain the difference and reason for the
change
BERR HENEAMENERDLE LEAKERL BRARE
Eﬁf?%ﬂ‘% MARE HEREARBREHBRE -BER
HEGMNE BTARBREIR ZENEEHRE -

[
e
>3d
s
[
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KPIs Disclosure Requirements Sections
BREARER BRERE BE
Environmental
RE
Aspect Al:
Emissions
EBmEAT : BERY
Al General Policies
Disclosure
—RIWE 12875
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have Emissions
a significant impact on the issuer; relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.
BTHRTABEAZENBEERSOREREEN - BERY
AR EHEEES BERBESEZVNELESTNA
BAR MR B
AT.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions
PR RE AR N AE B R U - BERY)
Al.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) Emissions
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility)
B (8E) R REE (BE2) A= REBHNE (UE BERY
AE)R(WERTBE (NMASEEE M BHERME
DR
A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where ~ Waste Management

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

PMELXEEEEMAE (JA iﬁi”")& (Em) X (I BEEMERE
NEESEMN BRERETHE

Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) Waste Management

and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility)

PMEAEZEZEYAE (AMEE) R (WER)ZE (I BEEYER
NEEEEN SEBEREFE) -
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KPIs

BEEENIEE

A1.5

Al.6

A2 Use of Resource
&R A

A2 General

Disclosure

—REE

A2.1

A2.2

A2.3

A2.4

A2.5

RESRRE R AR

Disclosure Requirements

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

WAPREI BN ER B R BEREL B IEMRINSE
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
are handled, and a description of reduction target(s)

set and steps taken to achieve them.
R EAENEEEREYN L R PTR]HR
BEEELSENEEREMRRNTRE-

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.

BRERER (BERIR KEEMRTE)OBEEK-

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

BREASSNERR REEER (WNE - Rom) 5%
ENTETESAE) RBE (NABESEM -
BERMEAHE)

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

BEKEREE (MATEEEMN FEREAH)

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

AL FTRT LR BETR 2 M ket B AR MR E B5E L B R AT R
HRE) ZZ R o

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s)
set and steps taken to achieve them.

Fid 2t SREGE A 7KOR £ AT A(E AR R - LA KR P AT S A9 A K
M B IR N AEREL B IRAERIE PR -

Total packaging material used for finished products (in
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.

A mAAEEMHNEE (ABEEE) & (WER)
HEBMIEE-

Sections
=4

Emissions
B

Waste Management

BEEMER

Energy Consumption

BEIRHFE

Energy Consumption

BEIRH FE

Water Consumption

FKk=

Energy Consumption
BEIRHFE

Water Consumption

FKk=E

Packaging Materials

BEM#



KPlIs
BEREEMNIEE
A3 The Environment
and Natural
Resources
RERRKAEBIR
A3 General
Disclosure
—MRIFEE
A3.1
A4 Climate Change
TR
A4 General
Disclosure
—REE
A4.1
54
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Disclosure Requirements

BERE

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on
the environment and natural resources.

BEETABERRERRAEREREALS

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions
taken to manage them.

RARBEBHERENAARERNEXN

BEBEENTH-

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer.

A M EHE RS

HEEENBE-

Description of the significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

RACERAEEHRTAEEZENEARRERE

B REHTH-
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Sections
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Environment and
Natural Resources
RERRABIR
Environment and
Natural Resources

RERRKAER
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KPIs
BEEENIEE
Social
o
B1 Employment
=
B1 General
Disclosure
— M E
B1.1
B1.2
B2 Health and Safety
REREZ 2
B2 General
Disclosure
— M=
B2.1
B2.2
B2.3
FEERRBREBRLT

RIE-AHEKE

Disclosure Requirements

BERE

Policies

BUR

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer; relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment, and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, antidiscrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

BTHETABEARENEHEGINLEE BE
Tho YRR B RED FEKE 2T &ﬁﬁ%&
H 15558 S 48 F 6 AR REA 122 S AR B

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for
example, full- or part-time), age group and
geographical region.

RS REEL (MERBEGRE)  FHRER MRS
DEVEB B

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

BIER - FRAR KBS DHIEERKLEK-
Policies
12655

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer

BTHRTABERZENEBER LA

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in
each of the past three years including the reporting
year.

BE=-F (BERERFE)EFRAITHWAB L X

Lost days due to work injury.

HIGRARIERR-

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

AR BERRRL 225G AREBERTRE
B=IA e

/l:l 3F&l:l

Sections

0]

Employment

& 1=

Employment

(=
Employment

(=
Employment

& 1=

Health and Safety

R e
Health and Safety

f 2 2
Health and Safety

(ERERgge
Health and Safety
fEFRaZ e
Health and Safety

fi2
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KPIs
BEREEMNIEE
B3 Development and
Training
BRREEI
B3 General
Disclosure
—MRIFE
B3.1
B3.2
B4 Labour standards
BT AR
B4 General
Disclosure
—REE
B4.1
B4.2
56

BIE R EARE

Disclosure Requirements

BERE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills
for discharging duties at work. Description of training

activities.

BRI REETT TEB R M M RBEMEER - it

EES -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle

management).

BN REEREN (MEREERE FREERE)SDH
XilEEBD -

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.

RUERIREEEMNE D BRERTKE I FHRE-

Policies

R

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer

BTHETABEKR

Description of measures to review employment practices
to avoid child and forced labour.

iR BB NERARRE T REH8 T -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices
when discovered.

B IRNE R BN H R AR BT R A S 88 o
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Sections
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Development and
Training

R N IE

Development and
Training

TR N IE
Development and

Training

TR R IE

Labour standards

A5 T AEB
Labour standards

4 TR
Labour standards

A5 T AEE
Labour standards
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KPIs
BEEENIEE
B5 Supply chain
management
e 2 E 18
B5 General
Disclosure
—REE
B5.1
B5.2
B5.3
B5.4
B6 Product
Responsibility
EmEf
B6 General
Disclosure
— MR E
B6.1
B6.2
B6.3
B6.4

RESRRE R AR

Disclosure Requirements

BERE

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of

the supply chain.
EEHERNRE R ERARBR-

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

miwEE DK EEBE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and

monitored.

HMAEHEEREERNED WERTHEBENNMHE

BEE  ARBEERTRERT A

Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they

are implemented and monitored.

A ARENEEREERONRRE I SARNED
AR BREMIT R

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting
suppliers, and how they are implemented and

monitored.

A ERERERRRES RRREMRSRBOESD
AR BB #MIT R

Policies

BUR

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have

c o
BRI Eo

ERT A

a significant impact on the issuer
BTHETABEATE

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to

B AR BEA R MR B

recalls for safety and health reasons.

EEXCEXEMAHTRLR 2R EIE b M AR K

Bt

Number of products and service related complaints

received and how they are dealt with.

BREBRERNMREORFEE AREHTTE-

Description of practices relating to observing and

protecting intellectual property rights.
T ot L v N AR IE KGR EE A B R 0 1B 5

Description of quality assurance process and recall

procedures.

Rl E ST B8ENEMmOKER-

Sections
=4

Supply chain
management
HEsEE IR

Supply chain
management
e E IR

Supply chain
management

HpEEE I

Supply chain
management

s E IR
Supply chain

management

e e IR

Product Responsibility

EmAE
Product Responsibility

EmET
Product Responsibility

EmAfE

Product Responsibility

EmEE
Product Responsibility
EmAE
Product Responsibility
EmEE
TEC=FEF®H 57
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RE - HERERHRE

KPIs Disclosure Requirements Sections
HARERER BERE ;0]
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy Product Responsibility
policies, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
RIUHEEERRERLEBRE  UREBRATRESR EmEE
J3E e
B7 Anti-corruption
RES
B7 General Policies Anti-corruption
Disclosure
—RWE 128 RES

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have Anti-corruption
a significant impact on the issuer

BTHETABERZENHEBERLRH RES
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt Anti-corruption

practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
RERMABEHTAXEEERLDYEELANE SHL RES
EUFWBB RFRER-

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing  Anti-corruption
procedures, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
W sEERBREF KRBEBATRERET A RES
B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to Anti-corruption
directors and staff.
W EEREB TRENREFHFI - RES
B8 Community
investment
HERIEE
B8 General Policies on community engagement to understand the Community
Disclosure needs of the communities where the issuer operates  investment

and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

— MR R BN E2HERTHREEMCHEFTENRREIELR HEIEE
EEEE EAMR MR AR -
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, Community
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture, investment
sport).

EIEREE (NHE REFHE SIF R R X HERE

t-8%)-

B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus Community
area. investment
EEISREMBAER (MERLEH) - HEREE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is always committed to maintaining high standard of
corporate governance. The Company throughout the year 2023
has fully complied with the applicable code provisions in the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report
(the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

CULTURES AND VALUES

A healthy corporate culture across the Group is integral to attain
its vision and strategy. It is the Board’s role to foster a corporate
culture with the following core principles and to ensure that the
Company’s vision, values and business strategies are aligned to
it.

1. Integrity and code of conduct

The Group strives to maintain high standards of business
ethics and corporate governance across all our activities
and operations. The Directors, management and staff are all
required to act lawfully, ethically and responsibly, and the
required standards and norms are explicitly set out in the
training materials for all new staff and embedded in various
policies such as the Group’s employee handbook (including
therein the Group’s code of conduct), the anti-corruption
policy and the whistleblowing policy of the Group. Trainings
are conducted from time to time to reinforce the required
standards in respect of ethics and integrity.

2. Commitment

The Group believes that the culture of commitment to
workforce development, workplace safety and health,
diversity, and sustainability is one where people have a
feeling of commitment and emotional engagement with the
Group’s mission. This sets the tone for a strong, productive
workforce that attracts, develops, and retains the best
talent and produces the highest quality work. Moreover,
the Company’s strategy in the business development
and management are to achieve long-term, steady and
sustainable growth, while having due considerations from
environment, social and governance aspects.

RESRRE R AR

TRERRE

TEERER
EEe—EHEHNAGEERTHEREY
KE- ARV —_E-_ZFHEEL2EE
SFGEM ET AR BB 815 AT & D B a 5T
Bl RtEERBRES(EESFA])2ER
SFANE 2 BE ©

Xt REESR

WALEME BENCEVLHERA
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1. BERITASTA
REBENEMBAB N EEPER
BIRENHEBRAEXELR-BES
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RBEENTRAITE MABRER
REC HEEIINFAF B TaEd
MEth YEMAREENE T FMH
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SETRETIHEI LBR(ELFOB
XBRELHEEREE-

2. FRIE
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TERERME

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings in
securities (the “Required Standard of Dealings”) as set out in
rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct governing the securities transactions by the Directors.
Following a specific enquiry made by the Company, all the
Directors confirmed that they complied with or they were not
aware of any non-compliance with the Required Standard of
Dealings for the year ended 31 December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight of the
management of the business affairs of the Group with the
objective of enhancing shareholders value.

For Board composition, please refer to the section “DIRECTORS”
in the “Directors’ Report” of this annual report.

The Board currently consists of five members, including two
Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors. The Board currently has two female Directors which
achieved the gender diversity in Board level. At least one of our
Independent Non-executive Directors has the professional and
accounting qualifications as required by the Listing Rules.

Throughout the year 2023, the Company has complied with
rules 5.05(1) and (2), and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence in writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers them to be
independent.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material relationship) between members of the Board.
Biographies of Directors are set out in “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
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Board responsibilities and delegation

The overall management of the Company’s businesses is vested
in the Board, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company and determines the overall strategies and
decides on significant financial and operational issues. Types of
decisions reserved for the Board are those affecting the Group'’s
overall strategic and financial policies, material contracts and
major investments.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the management which is responsible
for the execution of the strategies and polices adopted by the
Board.

Attendance at Board and general meetings

The Board held 8 meetings during the financial year ended
31 December 2023 to consider, among other things, reviewing
and approving the quarterly, half-yearly, annual results and
payment of dividend (if any) of the Group.

The attendance record of each Director at Board and general
meetings in 2023 is set out below:

AL 'I\-h-

fi= 3F&l:l

ESERERRE
ARRMEFHESFSEREE EF8
BEREREHARRFARAEARNY K
REEEHEEBRIEMOREK - ‘””1%$
SEHMARBELAF ERAEEERER

Ko B RS BUR ﬁﬁm,\U&EKTxﬁm/ﬁﬁ°

$“ﬂm HER TRREEERTHE
BE TEEAENTESSRANER
R -

ESEEBRRRAEHERSR
BE-Z-_=-F+_A=1+—HLMHEF
B B2 RBT/N\REH UEE(HP
BRE)EHNMMUEAKREZFE FFE -
FEEENRMNEE (F) -

TIRBEEN T _=FHLEEFTY
& MR KSR F RS

Board meeting ~ General meeting

attendance/ attendance/

Number of Number of

Directors Meetings Meetings

§$§§§ Hﬁﬁﬁ@

BERE/ ERE/

= EE VS EEVS

Executive Directors HiTES

Wang Tao B 5/5 1/1

Yu Yat Chi (promoted on 1 February 2024) REL(R_Z_MFE_A-BEEM) N/A 7T N/A T

Yang Xingan (resigned on 18 July 2023) BRZ (R-T_=F+tA+/\REE) 0/5 01
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFUTES

Lee Yim Wah FHE 5/5 11

Chow Yee Ting (appointed on 18 July 2023) A#EE(R_Z_=5+t A+ \BEZHE) 2/5 N/A T

Yeung Man Sun (appointed on 1 February 2024) Bk (R-_ZT-_ME_-_A—-REZHF) N/A T E A N/A 1@

Wang Qingling (resigned on 18 July 2023) TER (RZZ_=£+A+/\BEHE) 2/5 11

Yang Shuyan (resigned on 1 February 2024) BRE(RZE-_NFE_-_A—HET) 5/5 171

The directors were absent from Annual General Meeting
and Extraordinary General Meeting due to other business
arrangement.
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AL 'h-h—

fl= == -’Fbjl =

Directors’ continuous training and development

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the year,
Directors are provided with updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects regularly to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.
In addition, all Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development (the “CPD”) to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year, all Directors had participated in the CPD by
reading materials and/or attending training courses, seminars
or workshops organized by professional bodies on corporate
governance or updates on laws, rules and regulations relating to
the roles, functions and duties of a Director.

The individual record of each Director who received training for
the year is summarized as follows:

EEZRERIIRER

EERJBRERE -FAN EFTHE
READFRR - HREARHOEHER
NEE=ZeBRBLRESFAETHERE
AN RABIBBAAER2EFERR
BR(IFESEHRR]) UBRLEH
HA#F L ERESEAGEEEA
EOIEFBZBR T HESSELER

FRA - 2REFABHNERBELEERS

EREFEAC BERBENZEZE KA

FOERBMEANM K R K2 b HEE

BBAGNEIRE AAegTdwmes
HBEEEER-

RAFEEZFINZEFOEALEMR
R

Course/Seminar/
Workshop
organized by

Directors Professional Bodies Reading materials

HEXRBASN

RE/Me/

B EECA BEM B
Executive Directors HITES
Wang Tao & v/
Yu Yat Chi (promoted on 1 February 2024) RES(R-Z-NE-F-BEEH) v/
Yang Xingan (resigned on 18 July 2023) BERLZ (R_ZT-=F+tHA ‘I')\E%ﬂf) v/
Independent Non-executive Directors BUEBITES
Lee Yim Wah THE v
Chow Yee Ting (appointed on 18 July 2023) B&E (R-_Z-=F+tA+\BEZRHE) v/
Yeung Man Sun (appointed on 1 February 2024) B8k (R=Z-WF - —HEZT) N/A T F
Wang Qingling (resigned on 18 July 2023) TER (RZZ_=FtA+/\BEE) v/
Yang Shuyan (resigned on 1 February 2024) BRE(R_T_MNF_A—HEE) v/
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IRREEITERAR
The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are FFETHAHENBEBMER D -EEN

segregated. The primary role of the Chairman is to provide
leadership for the Board and to ensure that it works effectively
in discharging its responsibilities. The Chief Executive Officer
is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group's
business. The Group is still seeking replacement for the above
two position.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of 2 years
and are subject to rotational retirement and re-election in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Independent Non-executive Directors play a significant role
in the Board as they bring an impartial view on the Group's
strategies, performance and control, as well as ensure that the
interests of all shareholders are considered. All Independent
Non-executive Directors possess appropriate academic,
professional qualifications or related financial management
experience. None of the Independent Non-executive Directors
held any other offices in the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or is interested in any shares of the Company.

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are made available to the
Board, the Nomination Committee and the Board are committed
to assess the Directors’ independence annually with regards to
all relevant factors related to the Independent Non-executive
Directors including the following:

e required character, integrity, expertise, experience and
stability to fulfill their roles;

e time commitment and attention to the Company’s affairs;

e firm commitment to their independent roles and to the
Board;

e declaration of conflict of interest in their roles as
Independent Non-executive Directors;

* no involvement in the daily management of the Company
nor in any relationship or circumstances which would affect
the exercise of their independent judgement; and

e the Chairman meets with the Independent Non-executive
Directors regularly without the presence of the executive
Directors

The Company has received from each Independent Non-
executive director an annual confirmation of his independence,
and the Company considers them to be independent in
accordance with the criteria set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees to discharge the
Board functions. The respective roles, responsibilities and
activities of each of the Board committees are set out below:

Audit Committee

The primary duties of the audit committee are to ensure (i) the
reliability and integrity of the financial reporting of the Group;
(ii) that effective risk management and internal control systems
are functioning within the Group; and (iii) an appropriate
relationship is maintained with the external auditor. The terms of
reference of the audit committee are available on the Company’s
website.

The committee composition and the attendance record of each
of the committee members during the year is as follows:

EEZE®
EFCeCRVU-_AZEeUNTEZCR
- REEZESZEEAC BERAE
FylEwT

BEREEE
EREREQZIEZRAE /RO ASEM
BEREBZAEERTEL: () AEBRE
1EB R B R B 2R S M AR BRI R ¢ K (i)
BN ZEBMEREERR - EREZES
ZBEDSENARARREEEH -

ERZBEeENBRAREZEGKERAK

=4
FEHFEgRBERMT:

Attendance/
Directors Number of Meetings
B HEAY EBRY
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFBITES
Yeung Man Sun (Committee Chairman) Ghk(ZE22F)

(appointed on 1 February 2024) (R-FE-—mE=f—HEZHT) N/A TEA
Lee Yim Wah FuE 5/5
Chow Yee Ting (appointed on 18 July 2023) BaE(R-_F-_ZF+HA+/HEZ) 3/5
Wang Qingling (resigned on 18 July 2023) IR (R-F-_=F+A1/|HEH) 2/5
Yang Shuyan (resigned on 1 February 2024) BRE(R-ZE_mFE_F—HFE) 5/5

During the year, the audit committee reviewed the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor, reviewed the
annual results for 2022, quarterly and half-yearly results for
2023 and reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems.

Nomination Committee

The primary duties of the nomination committee are to (i)
determine the policy, procedures and criteria for the nomination
of directors, (ii) review the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board, (iii) identify individuals suitably qualified
to become board members, (iv) assess the independence
of INEDs, (v) make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors and (vi) monitor
the implementation of the board diversity policy. The terms of
reference of the nomination committee are available on the
Company’s website.
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The committee composition and the attendance record of each
of the committee members during the year is as follows:

TRERRE

REZESHERBARSZEEHENA
FEHESHBRLOT

Attendance/
Directors Number of Meetings
B HERE/ ERRY
Independent Non-executive Directors BUEHITES
Yeung Man Sun (Committee Chairman) Bhk(ZREZLE)

(appointed on 1 February 2024) (RZFE_mFE_F—HEZF) N/A T
Lee Yim Wah FHE 2/2
Chow Yee Ting (appointed on 18 July 2023) R&E (R_FE_=F+H+/1HEZE) 0/2
Wang Qingling (resigned on 18 July 2023) IR (R-FE_=F+H1/\AEH) 12
Yang Shuyan (resigned on 1 February 2024) BRB (R-F_AF—F—A#F) 2/2

During the year, the nomination committee reviewed the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board, assessed
the independence of all INEDs and reviewed the retirement of
Directors by rotation and the re-election of the retiring Directors.

Nomination Policy

The nomination committee will assess the candidate or
incumbent on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and
ability to commit time and effort to carry out the duties and
responsibilities. The recommendations of the nomination
committee will then be put to the Board for decision.

Procedure for Nomination of Directors

When there is a vacancy in the Board, the nomination committee
evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge and experience of the
Board, and identifies any special requirements for the vacancy.
The nomination committee will then identify suitable candidates
and convene a nomination committee meeting to discuss and
vote on the nomination of director(s) and make recommendation
to the Board on the candidate(s) for directorship.

Criteria for Nomination of Directors

The nomination committee will consider candidates who possess
the particular skills, experience and expertise that will best
complement the Board effectiveness at that time. In considering
the overall balance of the Board’s composition, the nomination
committee will give due consideration to the board diversity
policy of the Company.
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TRERRE

Board Diversity Policy

The Board adopted a board diversity policy setting out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company
recognizes and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board
members. It endeavors to ensure that the Board had a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Group’s business. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background and professional experience. The
ultimate decision will be made upon the merits and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The
Company will also take into account factors based on its own
business model and specific needs from time to time.

The nomination committee reviewed the board diversity policy
and achievement of objectives and effectiveness of the board
diversity policy, and recommended the Board that the existing
Board was appropriately structured and no change was required.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has adopted the model to delegate the
determination of the remuneration packages of individual
executive directors and senior management to the remuneration
committee. The terms of reference were last updated on 31
January 2023 and maintain on both website of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The committee is responsible for
formulating and recommending remuneration policy to
the Board and reviewing and making recommendations on
compensation-related issues. The terms of reference of the
remuneration committee are available on the Company’s
website.

The committee composition and the attendance record of each
of the committee members during the year is as follows:

EFEXEZTILHE
EZECRMEFTEXNEBEZTIEBER H
THEEREFEXKEZ T2 T &
RAPABRY R EEFEKEBZ Tb 2 #am e
HEIBREFENRE EREEHL
BHEAR T EABNAARERBRTE
ZPrERR -EFEMALZESHAARES
THEZBREAKFATBRENZTOBNRE
EERBZ b -

FEMREAFER -—RIZTLLAE B
BETRRMR Fik XERBEES
AR R R - RRORTE BIZATEREA
MEHMEBSESTEHRNAERMEDL
ARATEEEERNEB HEBEA LA
R R HE RN ZEREE -

BAEEGORTERGSTRARE
FE5 TREMEBER R B E
MESREARAEERANARARS
BE -

YMEES
ARRIRATERFHEZBESETERN
TEERERERBZHFMETBE2EAN-
BRESEROI-AEFEH/R-T-_=F
—RA=1+—8 ARARE KRBT
tEH -FHEESRANITAAESS
AR B BOR - A R R MR R R B B
ZEH - FMEEEZHERENALT
WMEEH-

FHEZESERBEARZZEERERAK
FELFESHBERAMT:

Attendance/
Directors Number of Meetings
Bz HEAY &RRY
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Yeung Man Sun (Committee Chairman) Bhik (ZEELE) N/A TE A

(appointed on 1 February 2024) (RZB-_AFE-H—HEZF)

Lee Yim Wah FHE 212
Chow Yee Ting (appointed on 18 July 2023) B&E (R-_E_=F+ AT/ \HEZF) 0/2
Wang Qingling (resigned on 18 July 2023) IBR (R-ZE-=F+A+/\AEF) 112
Yang Shuyan (resigned on 1 February 2024) BB (R - F_AF - H—HFE) 2/2
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During the year, the remuneration committee reviewed the
Group's policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors
and senior management, assessed performance of executive
Directors, reviewed and recommended to the Board the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management and
ensured that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration.

The remuneration committee also reviewed the proposals for
the grant of the share options under the Company’s share option
scheme with recommendations to the Board for approval. For
the proposals for the grant of the share options to director and
managers which gives incentives for their contribution to the
growth of the Group while the grant can maximize their benefits
at the same time and to provide the Group with a more flexible
means instead of paying cash to reward, remunerate, compensate
and/or provide benefits to them.

Remuneration of Senior Management

The remuneration of the senior management whose particulars
are contained in “Biographical details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report for the year ended
31 December 2023 by band is set out below:

Remuneration band (in HK$)
MegE (B TEHE)

Nil to 1,000,000 Z 21,000,000
Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties including:

a. To develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

b. To review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

c. To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

d. To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

e. To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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TERERME

RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company.

The statement of the external auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual report.

During the year, the remuneration paid to the external auditor
for audit service is HK$424,000.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr Yu Tat Chi, has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training to update his skills and knowledge in 2023.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures to convene an extraordinary general
meeting and put forward proposals at general meeting
Pursuant to article 59 of the Articles, any one or more
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Procedures for directing enquires to the Board
Shareholders may send their written enquiries to the Company,
for the attention of company secretary, by fax: (852) 2237 7227,
or mail to Unit 2302, 23/F., New World Tower 1, 18 Queen’s
Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.

MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF
ASSOCIATION

Pursuant to the Consultation Conclusions on Listing Regime for
Overseas Issuers published by the Stock Exchange in November
2021, the GEM Listing Rules have been amended with effect
from 1 January 2022 which requires, among others, listed issuers
to adopt a uniform set of 14 “Core Standards” for shareholder
protections for issuers.
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As such, on 15 May 2023, the Board proposes to amend the
Memorandum and Articles of Association for the purposes of,
among others, (i) bringing the Memorandum and Articles of
Association in line with amendments made to the GEM Listing
Rules and applicable laws of the Cayman Islands; and (ii) making
certain other housekeeping amendments to the Memorandum
and Articles of Association.

The proposed amendments and the proposed adoption of the
second amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association was approved by way of special resolution at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 15 May
2023. For details, please refer to the Company’s announcements
dated 5 May 2023 and 15 June 2023 and Company’s circular
dated 5 May 2023.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Company’s strategic objectives, ensuring that the Group
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. The systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Group maintains an effective internal control and risk
management system. The Company has engaged an independent
consultant performed the internal audit reviews for the Group.
The Independent consultant has recommended an internal audit
plan to the management of the Company and the Board, and
assisted the Company to review the internal control system on
certain selected processes for the year ended 31 December
2023. The management of the Company agreed on the findings
and adopted the recommendations accordingly.

The Board reviews the risk management and internal controls
annually and has through the Audit Committee and with the
assistance of the management, independent consultant and
external auditors, conducted a review of, and is satisfied with
the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2023
as well as the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function.

No internal audit team has been set up during the year since
it is not cost effective in view of the small and simple size and
structure of the Group. However, the Board will continue to
review the need for one annually.
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The Group adopted a risk management framework which
comprises the following processes:

- ldentify significant risk in the Group’s operation
environment and evaluate the impacts of those risks on the
Group’s business;

—  Develop necessary measures to manage those risks; and

—  Monitor and review the effectiveness of such measures.

The Group formulated the policies and procedures of risk
management and internal control as follows:

—  The Group established an organisational structure with clear
operating and reporting procedures, lines of responsibility
and delegated authority;

—  Each operating subsidiary maintains internal controls and
procedures appropriate to its structure;

—  Relevant executive Directors and senior management have
been delegated with specific accountability for monitoring
the performance of designated business operating units; and

— A systematic review of the financial and business processes
in order to provide management the adequacy and
effectiveness of internal controls. Where weaknesses are
identified in the system of internal controls, management
will evaluate and take necessary measures to ensure that
improvements are implemented.

The Board and the Audit committee reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems adopted by the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and considered that they
were effective and adequate.

Dissemination of inside information

The Group has management control to ensure that any material
information which comes to the knowledge of any officers
should be promptly identified, assessed and forwarded to the
Board (if appropriate).

70 Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

AEEBRMARERER EHREEAT

AR

- BHAKREKERRZEKNER P
EZERREAEERBIFE:

- HEBBZER AEEZEERR

— EPENRNZEFHEBEE AR
KEBHTEZRBRERENNIPEIZBR R
*zfﬁDT-

— AREBCDRIEFEBWEE RERE
FrA R B E R IR 2 4B A 2R 1

KREMBARERAEEREBZA
mERRER

- HEZATEELRSAEEECER
BHERKEEUEERT 2RI
BEREZET K&

- HYBREHREE %”WLI?EZ$
NEBRNBEERD *ﬁ_xﬁl\i %é?fﬁ
NEEEHEFERE ERERE
TR B b0 B 2 16 1 - HEAR(E
R e

EEENERTESERIAEETEEC
T =F+ A=+ RALFEMRAZ
EREEMADBESEHE IREERAE
BRFER o

HMmARHEE
AEEREEEEREBABRENER
ABBENEFNERERAT KEHR
ﬁﬁ&? L (HER)EFE-

ANNUAL REPORT 2023



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

elite
% partners

TO THE MEMBERS OF SINO SPLENDID HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sino
Splendid Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 77 to
175, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2023,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Key Audit Matter
RREETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNEFOMNEEBERETSE

Impairment assessment on accounts receivable, loan receivables and other receivables

FE W B  FE WK R % L il P W R IR 2 LB ST A

As at 31 December 2023, the net carrying amounts Our procedures in relation to management’s
of accounts receivables, other receivables and impairment assessment on accounts receivables, other
loan receivables amounted to approximately receivables and loan receivables included:
HK$30,852,000, HK$5,120,000 and HK$9,894,000 ¥ 1 & I [& Bt FE W R 5K~ H 4 g W5k B K B B BUE
respectively. T2 RER G RFBETOREF B

RZEBE-=ZF+-_A=+—H EWRER EM4E
WkTE M EWE R 2 REFE D B4 A30,852,000
7T+ 5,120,000/ 7T 129,894,000/ JT °

Management judgement is required in assessing
and determining the recoverability of accounts
receivable, loan receivables and other receivables
and adequacy of allowance made using the
expected credit losses ('ECL") model under HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments”.

PR RT i Ko B T M MR BR A B B R N L b R U ROR
AR B R EREEM B REERFOR (@ T
AIETHWRREEER ([RHREEER])RAE
HHBEERT TR EEEAREL A -

We had identified loss allowance for ECL on
accounts receivable, loan receivables and other
receivables as a key audit matter because the
assessment of the recoverability of accounts
receivable, loan receivables and other receivables
and recognition of loss allowance are inherently
subjective and requires significant management
judgement, which increases the risk of error or
potential management bias.
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We discussed with management and independent
external valuer engaged by the Group in relation
to the methodology, basis and assumptions used
to see whether the methodology and assumptions
used were reasonable and appropriate;
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We checked the accuracy, appropriateness and
reliance of the input date used; and

TP RE AT A ABURM BRI B E MR S
K

We evaluated the competence, capabilities
and objectivity of the independent external
valuer taking into account its experience and
qualifications.

P B LN B EMMEE N R EBIE YEE
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We considered the management’s conclusion to be
consistent with the available information.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of user taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

J Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the those charge with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with those charge with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Chan Wai Nam, William with
Practising Certificate number P05957.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Level 23,

YF Life Tower,

33 Lockhart Road,
Wan Chai,

Hong Kong

26 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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A HAth 2 H W @R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=+—-HLEE

2023 2022
—E_=H =
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
Bat FHET FET
Revenue EHEE 5 42,311 66,267
Cost of sales 5 & KA (35,503) (44,437)
Gross profit E A 6,808 21,830
Other income and other net gains E AU A R B Ath a5 0 F 7R 7 2,000 1,183
(Impairment losses)/reversal of EHEEEERXT ORE
impairment loss under expected BE) REEEREE -
credit loss model, net R 8 (11,702) (23,795)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (3,695) (3,968)
Administrative expenses TERA X (42,026) (38,041)
Finance costs A& KA 9 - (183)
Loss before taxation B AT E 18 (48,615) (42,974)
Income tax expense FRiE R 10 (456) (49)
Loss for the year FREE (49,071) (43,023)
Other comprehensive income/(expense): HthZEWA (X)) :
Item that may be reclassified HETRENIBEE
subsequently to profit or loss: BRZHEAB:
Exchange difference on translations BEBINEBEE 2
of foreign operations ME X R (121) 441
Reclassification of cumulative HEBIIEBREN DI
transaction reserve upon disposal RARHRHE
of foreign operation - (1,220)
Other comprehensive expense FRNHMEEHRX
for the year, net of income tax MBRFTS (121) (779)
Total comprehensive expense FREEMXAHE
for the year (49,192) (43,802)
Loss for the year attributable to: FREMGEER:
— Owners of the Company Y N/NEIES Y =N (49,071) (43,023)
— Non-controlling interests —JFHE R a - =
(49,071) (43,023)

RESRRE R AR



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FEREREMCEENER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=+—-HLEE

2023 2022
—EC=fF —ZE-=
Notes HK$000 HK$000
Hat FET TET
Total comprehensive expense FREAZHEMAAE:
for the year attributable to:
— Owners of the Company VAN/NEIESE =N (49,192) (43,802)
— Non-controlling interests -~ FEERR R - -
(49,192) (43,802)
Loss per share (HK cents) BRER (B)
— Basic N 15 (33.26) (31.77)
— Diluted -8 15 (33.26) (31.77)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

n\l__]_\

B IR R

As at 31 December 2023 R-FE - =4+ _-H=+—H

2023 2022
—B-Z=HF —E-=
Notes HK$000 HK$000
k=3 FET FET
Non-current Assets kREBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE R RRE 16 385 1,528
Goodwill GES 17 5,161 5,161
5,546 6,689
Current Assets REBEE
Financial assets at fair value BAREFABRZ
through profit or loss CRMEE 18 12,565 6,605
Loan receivables eI E R 79 9,894 9,731
Accounts and other receivables i LS BR SR % EL i U BB 20 35,972 54,371
Inventories FE 21 - 1,828
Cash and cash equivalents HeMREEEY 22 21,122 31,199
79,553 103,734
Current Liabilities REAE
Accounts and other payables JRE A5F R R K L th B A5 3R IB 23 32,972 7,531
Tax liabilities RIBEAEE 543 87
33,515 7,618
Net Current Assets EFRBEE 46,038 96,116
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities HEERRBERE 51,584 102,805
Net Assets FEE 51,584 102,805
Capital and Reserves IR K f#
Share capital A& A 26 5,902 5,902
Reserves & 27 45,682 94,874
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ZANARI#H ABIG#E S 51,584 100,776
Non-controlling interests IR S 28 - 2,029
Total Equity R 51,584 102,805
The consolidated financial statements on page 77 to 175 were H77Z175BMBHFREHBHRER -
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on ZPIF =A==+ XBEE %Aﬁt/ﬁ&ﬁ%
26 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: HBEWHIAT ALTRKRE
Yu Tat Chi Wang Tao
REXR &
Director Director
EZE EE
hEERGRZRARLF R =FFR 7D
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
EEE/)ILE%E

SEF A=+ —ALEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &2 =

n\l__]_\

= —

2023 2022
—E=-= ===
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RERED
Loss before taxation B B AT E 18 (48,615) (42,974)
Adjustments for: A
Bank interest income RITHE 1451)\ (36) (70)
Depreciation of property, Mk HERZETE
plant and equipment 658 833
Finance costs B & K AR - 183
Impairment loss recognised on HE R U R BB B B 18
accounts receivables 15,060 20,562
Reversal of impairment loss on B EREFOREREE
loan receivables (163) (818)
PPE written-off IR - P B B AR A 8 477 -
Reversal of/recognised on impairment B [8], 1 3R EL 4tb JE W R TERL (B S 1R
loss on other receivables (3,195) 4,051
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries &M B A Az W - (8,762)
Gain on deregistration of foreign BHINSEME R AT L 2 W
operation subsidiaries (2,026) -
Fair value changes on financial assets RARBEFABRZEREEZ
at fair value through profit or loss NREEZH (2,963) 3,312
Realised loss on financial assets BRAnEf ABRZeRMEEY
at fair value through profit or loss EERER 1,025 5,027
Dividend income on financial assets BRARBEFABRZERMEEZ
at fair value through profit or loss st B A - (34)
Equity settled share based payment MiE B 2 R E ARG &
expenses for employees il SN - 1,328
Operating cash flows before movements BEREPR KER SRS
in working capital (39,778) (17,362)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FEERD () 1,828 (1,037)
Increase in accounts receivables JRE s BR SR8 0 (2,977) (35,469)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and TER FIE - 1R & N H 8 WO R
other receivables 9,511 19,218
Increase in accounts payables JE S BR XA N 29,193 1,076
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and ~ H b ER FHIE R BT & &
accrued liabilities CRd) /1 (3,752) 5,738
CASH USED IN OPERATIONS REXBRARS (5,975) (27,836)
Income tax refund FRIGBRT = 83
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING RETHRAZREFHE
ACTIVITIES (5,975) (27,753)
FEERRRIERBRLT —TE=FF®R 81



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘/-ﬁ Iﬁ:%/ﬂbi%

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—ECZ=F —ZE-=
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
ik FET FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Dividend income received from financial BWIEARBEFAEZZ
assets at fair value through profit or loss TRUEEZ REWA - 34
Interest received BFLE 36 70
Net proceeds for disposal of subsidiaries & B2 7713 5B F 4 33 - (65)
Proceed from disposal of financial assets ~ H&E&Z AR BT AE
at fair value through profit or loss TR EE TS RIE 400 15,845
Purchases of financial assets at fair value ~ BEZR A EFTAEBZZ
through profit or loss TREE (4,422) -
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED REZE® (FFA) FEREE
FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES FE (3,986) 15,884
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMETEH
Interest on lease liabilities paid ENEEABNE - 3)
Interest paid 2RHE - (360)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEEEE - 1,058
Proceed from exercised of share option TEEBREMSRIA - 1,482
Repayment of bonds BEES - (6,000)
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds — Z£77 A] $#2 J& (& 55 AT 13 208 - 9,250
NET CASH GENERATED FROM METHIEREFHE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES - 5,427
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERRSEEORDF
CASH EQUIVALENTS (9,961) (6,442)
Cash and cash equivalents at RENZBERBECEFED
beginning of year 31,199 37,160
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes R 2 ZE (116) 481
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REARAZEERESEEY
END OF YEAR 21,122 31,199
82 Sino Splendid Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands. The shares of the Company are listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the corporate information section to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally engaged in
(i) travel media operations with provision of advertising
services through the internet and travel magazines, event
organising services and magazine publication; (ii) provision
of contents and advertising services in a well known
financial magazine distributed in the PRC; (iii) investment
in securities; (iv) virtual reality business; and (v) money
lending business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency
of the Company and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (HK$'000) unless otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M ERR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. Eméiﬁﬁt%ﬁ%iﬁﬁuwé

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS BMBREEL]) ZEFTAR
(“HKFRSs”)
(@) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily (@ REFEREHERZE BN
effective for the current year B EE BT A
In the current year, the Group has applied the following RREEEVBRE ~&E R
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the AEEEBERERBEEGS
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants Mrg([BEEMAE])R
(“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily IR —_T_=F—-—HA—HBHzxZ
effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1& B9 40 B9 4F [ B ) 98 Il A2 R A
1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated THEEI BB MW EER MEET
financial statements: PINE
HKFRS 17 including the Insurance Contracts BEMBREEN  RRAH
October 2020 and F17% (B
February 2022 Amendments “ZoTELTAR
(HKFRS 17) R CFZ AR
ZE3T) (BAYK
BELRE7H)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies BREEHENR IR SHERNKE
{BaT A
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates BAEHERES Ry QHEHANTER
{BFTA
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and BEAEHENENR BE-XZELN
Liabilities arising from a Single EHES EENARAH
Transaction HIRTER R
Amendment to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two BREEANE Tz BRRBRE-—X
Model Rules EHIEN DA RR
The application of amendments to HKFRSs in the RAFERBEBVBRE LR
current year has had no material effect on the Group’s ZIETREAEBNAFE KB
financial performance and position for the current EFEZHBRALMRRR X
and prior years and/or the disclosures set out in these HLEGREMERRAPTEH 2 5E
consolidated financial statements. WEEATE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. EEEBUMBEHREERN([F

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS BMEHREER ) 218K —
(“HKFRSs”) — Continued o

(@) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily (@) REFEBREHERZEEBY

effective for the current year — Continued
Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
| and HKFRS 1 Practice Statement 2 Disclosure
of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements is amended to replace all instances
of the term “significant accounting policies’ with
“material accounting polices information”. Accounting
policy Information is material if, when considered
together with other Information Included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of
the related transactions, other events or conditions
even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all
accounting policy information relating to material
transaction, other events or condition is itself material.
If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial o accounting
policy information, such information must not obscure
material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended
to illustrate how on entity applies the “four-step
materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures
and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance
and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has bad no
material impact on the Group financial positions and
performance and/or affected the disclosure of the
Group’s accounting policies set out in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘/-ﬁ 7.|- ﬁ% #&%% Bﬁ- J-I

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. EREBUEHREER (Fé
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS %Eﬁ%i&%-f% ) 2148
(“HKFRSs”) — Continued ]

(@) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily (@) REFEBRFHERZEEY

86

effective for the current year — Continued
Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of

the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong

The Group has several subsidiaries operating in Hong
Kong which are obliged to pay LSP to employees
under certain circumstances. Meanwhile, the Group
makes mandatory MPF contributions to the trustee
who administers the assets held in a trust solely for
the retirement benefits of each individual employee.
Offsetting of LSP against an employee’s accrued
retirement benefits derived from employers’ MPF
contributions was allowed under the Employment
Ordinance (Cap.57). In June 2022, the Government of
the HKSAR gazetted the Employment and Retirement
Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”) which abolishes the use of the accrued
benefits derived from employers’” mandatory MPF
contributions to offset severance payment and LSP (the
“Abolition”). The Abolition will officially take effect
on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). In addition,
under the Amendment Ordinance, the last month’s
salary immediately preceding the Transition Date
(instead of the date of termination of employment) is
used to calculate the portion of LSP in respect of the
employment period before the Transition Date.

n July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” which provides guidance
for the accounting for the offsetting mechanism and
the impact arising from abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of this,
the Group has implemented the guidance published
by the HKICPA in connection with the LSP obligation
retrospectively so as to provide more reliable and more
relevant information about the effects of the offsetting
mechanism and the Abolition.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. EEEBUMBEHREERN([F

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS BMEHREER ) 218K —
(“HKFRSs”) — Continued o

(@) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily (@) REFEBREHERZEEBY

effective for the current year — Continued
Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of

the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong — Continued

The Company considered the accrued benefits arising
from employer MPF contributions that have been vested
with the employee and which could be used to offset
the employee’s LSP benefits as a deemed contribution
by the employee towards the LSP. Historically, the
Group has been applying the practical expedient in
paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 to account for the deemed
employee contributions as a reduction of the service
cost in the period in which the related service is
rendered. Based on the HKICPA's guidance, as a result
of the Abolition, these contributions are no longer
considered “linked solely to the employee’s service
in that period” since the mandatory employer MPF
contributions after the Transition Date can still be used
to offset the pre-transition LSP obligation. Therefore, it
would not be appropriate to view the contributions as
“independent of the number of years of service” and
the practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS
19 is no longer applicable. Instead, these deemed
contributions should be attributed to periods of service
in the same manner as the gross LSP benefit applying
paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19. Accordingly, the Group
has recognised a cumulative catch-up adjustment in
profit or loss for the service cost, interest expense
and remeasurement effect from changes in actuarial
assumptions for the year ended 31 December 2022,
with corresponding adjustment to the LSP obligation.
The cumulative catch-up adjustment is calculated as
the difference at the enactment date (16 June 2022)
between the carrying amount of the LSP liability
calculated under paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 before
the Abolition and the carrying amount of the LSP
liability calculated under paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19
after the Abolition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘/-ﬁ 7.|- ﬁ% #&% Bﬁ- A-I

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — Continued

(a)

(b)

88

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year — Continued
Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of

the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong — Continued

By following the Guidance, the Group has therefore
changed its accounting policy and ceased to apply
the Practical expedient and reattribute the deemed
employee contributions on a straightline basis from
the date when services by employees first lead to their
benefits in terms of the LSP legislation in accordance
with HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a). The cumulative effect
of recognising these adjustments as of 31 December
2022 or for the year ended was not material and hence
no adjustment was made to the beginning retained
earnings, or another component of equity.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective:

The Group has not only applied the following new and
amendment to HKFRS, that have been issued but not
effective:

Amendments to HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKFRS 10 between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture
(amendments)?
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and

Leaseback'
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
Presentation of Financial or Non-current!
Statements
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants'
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements'
and HKFRS 7
Amendment to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024.

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025.

3 to be determined.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

EREEMBHREER ([F
ZA) 2

,%E!ﬁ%i&%

E

(a)

(b)

R 1) 2 BT A —

REFEBREER 2ERY
BHREZEET A - &
Eﬁ/ﬁ?%ﬁ%‘“ﬁ/ﬁﬂ‘\ﬁ@i
BB Rt N EL ([ %
Eﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ/ﬁ%ﬁ ([ &
HRE x| ) #3518 56 & &1
FEPE L 118 5| T A
B REE) —E
BB AEEE AL B E
SEBE THERAITEES
o MERBEEGERE9
$H93(a) R TE - B E B IR
BEXARBRARG2APELR
Mz BELNESEEFRHRE
BREHFIIK - BHE-_FT——
TZA=T—HsEEZBLSF
EHRRAZSHBENRFAZELD
EX A I S H R A &R
X #E 2 B0 H A A X BB 0 1E R

%Eko

EEMEERERZHETE
B BREENRETAE
AEBEWERFERAIATERM
BRARERZHFTEEVBRE
Q| R ERTA

FAGHENENER  HEEEABELT
ERUBREEN  SARLEZEM

F10R 2 EF A EEHENIE
(BFTA )
EANBREER ERREPHEE
F16H 2 BTR a8

EREHENZIRZ  RABIEARY
BAARBRERZZS  RFRE'

BREHEAFER . WEEEA
LN |
BEEENEIRR  HERHRS
BANBREENETR

ZIBEIR

BEAGHENENT .  HZURARE

ﬂ? ETZJX

U RZE-_MNE—-—AR—Bz 2’
FIEE) /S HAR AR -

2 R-ZE-_AF—A—HzZZ#’
G FE HM AR -

3 B

ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — Continued

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective: - Continued

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

(i) Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments to HKFRS 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements and HKAS 28 Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures deal with situations
where there is a sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. Specifically, the amendments state that
gains or losses resulting from the loss of control
of a subsidiary that does not contain a business in
a transaction with an associate or a joint venture
that is accounted for using the equity method,
are recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests
in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains
and losses resulting from the remeasurement of
investments retained in any former subsidiary (that
has become an associate or a joint venture that
is accounted for using the equity method) to fair
value are recognised in the former parent’s profit
or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’
interests in the new associate or joint venture.

The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M ERR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. EREBUMBHREERN([F
8|]) 2

90

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ,ﬁ,ﬁji’%ﬁ% Al | {EET 24 —
(“HKFRSs”) - Continued s
(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but (b) EHEMEEKRERZHITE
not yet effective: — Continued B BREENRERT R -
]

(ii) Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification (ii) &BEZFERIFEH 2 NE
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current GIAR [ EESIERT
and related amendments to Hong Kong E/ﬁ 7@5,15/)/&57}] & EWorEs
Interpretation 5 (2020) BES (—FE_FF)

ZIREFEET

The amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of right to
defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date for classification of liabilities as
current or non-current, which:

—  specify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current should be based on
rights that are in existence at the end of the
reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected
by management intentions or expectations
to settle the liability within 12 months;
and

(ii) if the right is conditional on the
compliance with covenants, the right
exists if the conditions are met at the end
of the reporting period, even if the lender
does not test compliance until a later
date; and

- clarify that if a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own
equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only
if the entity recognises the option separately
as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

T N =

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2.
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — Continued
(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective: — Continued

(ii) Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) — Continued

In addition,

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was

revised as a consequence of the Amendments to
HKAS 1 to align the corresponding wordings with
no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as
at 31 December 2022, the application of the
amendments will not result in reclassification of
the Group’s liabilities.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the

HKICPA.

In addition,

the consolidated financial

statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘/-ﬁ 7.|- ﬁ% #&% Bﬁ- -LI

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

3. REMBBRERZAHUEER
EESTBEREN-&

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -

Continued
(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated financial (@) GREVBHRR2FEREE-
statements — Continued ]

MTIXEBGAERREMTA

The consolidated financial statements have been

prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain BRRERERRBALEFED
financial instruments that are measured at fair values ETeRIAN KalBHRE

THIRIE e B AR B A i %z °

at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
major accounting policy information set out below.

LA —RIRERZEE MR

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

All amounts are presented in Hong Kong dollar
thousands (“HK$’000”) in these consolidated financial
statements, unless otherwise stated.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is

REMETcREZRAAERE
BEIrHE-

BRRB@RAIN ZFEAMH R
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directly observable or estimated using another valuation BRI B RN
technique.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

RmAEER
ER-E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued
(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

@ BEUBREZANLE-

statements — Continued

A fair value measurement of a non-financial assets takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent
periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at
initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement
in its entirety, which are described as follows:

— Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

—  Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

—  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. B BRZFEHEER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL EEESTHERER-&
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -

Continued

(b) REEE

(b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

—  has power over the investee;

— is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

—  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued
(b) Basis of consolidation — Continued

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘/-ﬁ 7.|- ﬁ% #&% Bﬁ- A-I

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. %é,ti%ﬁizaﬁigﬁ&

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of net assets and
operations of another entity for which the acquisition
date is before 1 January 2005 represents the excess of
the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
relevant acquiree at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 1 January
2001 continues to be held in reserves, and will be
transferred to the retained earnings at the time when
the business to which the goodwill relates is disposed
of or when a cash-generated unit (“CGU") to which the
goodwill relates becomes impaired.

For previously capitalised goodwill arising on
acquisitions of new assets and operations of another
entity after 1 January 2001, the Group has discontinued
amortisation from 1 January 2005 onwards, and
such goodwill is tested for impairment annually, and
whenever there is an indication that the CGU unit to
which the goodwill relates may be impaired (see the
accounting policy below).

Goodwill arising on acquisition on or after 1 January
2005 was recognised as an asset and initially measured
at cost, being the excess of the cost of the acquisition
over the Group’s interest in the recognised amounts
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised. If, after assessment, the Group’s
interest in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
exceeded the cost of the acquisition, the excess was
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. e BHBR2GEREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BEESHRXER &
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -

Continued

(c¢) Goodwill — Continued (c) BE-&
Goodwill arising on acquisition on or after 1 RZFEEAF-—HA—HHZ
January 2005 12 FE T EE £ 2 B R

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s CGUs (or group of
CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest
level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs)
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If
the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU
within the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes
of an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within a
group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of
is measured on the basis of the relative values of the
operation (or the CGU) disposed of and the portion of
the CGU (or the group of CGUs) retained.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. %é,ti%ﬁizaﬁigﬁ&

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL EESHHREER &
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

(d) Property, plant and equipment d) W% -HBERRE

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes. Property,
plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items. Depreciation is recognised
so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Leasehold improvement Shorter of remaining

lease term

or 3-5 years

Furniture and fixture 5 years
Office equipment 5 years
Computer equipment and software 3 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and is recognised in profit or loss.
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ME - BEMREAFBELEESL
HEEMHRFUEERENA
MEE-MEX HELRENA
PRASR R 18 REHTE R E R RET
HEEER (IME)RERE MBI
MRARR

ME BENREXLABREER
BEENKBAMEBER ZEEREN
PR - FERITETIVAEERKA
BMEERGEEREMGAIER
FHRERENE At Al E A
FH FREEBMFTETEZES
W¢%K$Mﬁﬁ‘iﬁ%*X

RESEAEENTEETZ
%°HHTE%¢%WT-
MEMEERE RIErE BT

ZERF (MU

BREERE)

KMEEE g
ﬂ#”\ B g
B R LB =4
/’L$ ﬁi

WE HEBENREEENERD
ERNERBEEERZEEY
NG A AT A AR A R By AR LT
Mo ERREY R M MR
wWEBRELEN MW EKER
RIEHEMSRAEEEERAE
ZERBAE WNIBHER -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ZREMERRZFEHEER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL EESTHREER &
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -

Continued

(e) Leases (e) HE
Detfinition of a lease HE ) E 2%
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract fil & #9 8, 7 R — BR B e 99
conveys the right to control the use of an identified W2 BB E AL BRER

asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office equipment that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ,%v?\é,ﬁ%ﬁéesz%g?ﬁ&

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL EESHHREER &
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

e) HE-&

(e) Leases — Continued

100

Definition of a lease — Continued
The Group as a lessee — Continued

HEMTE &
AEBERERA &

Right-of-use assets EREEE
The cost of right-of-use asset includes: EHEEERANBTE:

—  the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

— any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

— any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

— an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. e BBRZFEHREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BEESHRXER &
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -

Continued
(e) Leases — Continued (e) HE-&

Definition of a lease — Continued

The Group as a lessee — Continued

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

—  the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

— the lease payments change due to changes
in which cases the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. %&é,tiﬁiﬁizaﬁig‘?ﬁ&

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL EESHHREER &
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

) ME- -HERREUREH

(f) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

and right-of-use assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset
belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is
indication that corporate assets may be impaired.
If such indication exists, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual CGUs, when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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RmAEER
ER-E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

(f) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

() M= HEERRBUK LA

and right-of-use assets other than goodwill -
Continued

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of CGU, with the recoverable amount of the
group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a group
of CGUs) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of
CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. %é,ti%ﬁizaﬁigﬁ&

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL EESHHREER &
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

(g €M T A

(g) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for account receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.
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a8 ZERHEER
EEES

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. W&
BREH-&

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

(g) Financial instruments — Continued

@ SWMIE—&

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

— the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

—  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL. A financial asset is held for sales if:

— it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

— on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

— itis a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued
(g) Financial instruments — Continued
Financial assets — Continued
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets — Continued

106

(i)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on
the financial asset and is included in the “other
income and other net gains” line item.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued
(g) Financial instruments — Continued

@ SWMIE—&

Financial assets — Continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including accounts and other receivables, loan
receivables, and bank balances) which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at the end of each reporting period to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
end of the reporting period as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts
receivables without significant financing component.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for
debtors with significant balances and credit-impaired
and/or collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Company measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued
(g) Financial instruments — Continued
Financial assets — Continued
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 — Continued

108

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the end of the reporting
period with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition.

In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

(@) an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

(b) significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

(c) existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

(d) an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; or

(e) an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued
(g) Financial instruments — Continued

Financial assets — Continued
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 — Continued

(i) Significant increase in credit risk — Continued
Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default
The Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M ERR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued
(g) Financial instruments — Continued

Financial assets — Continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 — Continued

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of accounts receivable, when the amounts are
over one year past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. The Group uses a
practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade and
bills receivables using a provision matrix taking
into consideration historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued
(g) Financial instruments — Continued

Financial assets — Continued
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 — Continued

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL — Continued

Lifetime ECL for certain accounts receivable
are considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant
credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

—  Past-due status;

- Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

—  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of accounts receivable, loan receivables and other
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘/-ﬁ 7.|- ﬁ% #&% Bﬁ- A-I

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. %é,ti%ﬁizaﬁigﬁ&

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL EESHHREER &
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

(g €M IR ﬁ
TR EE B

(g) Financial instruments — Continued
Financial assets — Continued

112

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
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the substance of the contractual arrangements and BEOBRRTRABBIRA-
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity

instrument.

Equity instruments JEART A

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received,
net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual instruments, which include no contractual
obligation for the Group to deliver cash or other
financial assets or the Group has the sole discretion
to defer payment of distribution and redemption of
principal amount indefinitely are classified as equity
instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PN

e ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

(g)

(h)

Financial instruments — Continued

Financial liabilities and equity — Continued
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including accounts payables,
accruals and other payables, bond payable and lease
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Accounting implications of the abolition of

the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) - Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism
in Hong Kong

As disclosed in note H(ii), the Group has several
subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong which are obliged
to pay LSP to employees under certain circumstances.
Meanwhile, the Group makes mandatory and voluntary
MPF contributions to the trustee who administers the
assets held in a trust solely for the retirement benefits
of each individual employee. Offsetting of LSP against
an employee’s accrued retirement benefits derived from
employers” MPF contributions was allowed under the
Employment Ordinance (Cap.57).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M ERR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. A BHR2HEHEEER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL EEESTHERER-&
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -

Continued

(hy BEBUEEBRHMEARE

(h) Accounting implications of the abolition of

114

the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) - Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism
in Hong Kong — Continued

Change in accounting policy on offsetting
arrangement in long service payment scheme in
HKSAR

In June 2022, the HKSAR Government enacted the
Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance
2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”) which will be
effective from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”).
Under the Amendment Ordinance, any accrued benefits
attributable to the employer’s mandatory contributions
under mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF
Benefits”) of an entity would no longer be eligible to
offset against its obligations on long service payment
(“LSP”) for the portion of the LSP accrued on or after
the Transition Date. There is also a change in the
calculation basis of last monthly wages for the portion
of the LSP accrued before the Transition Date.

Prior to 1 January 2023, the Group applied practical
expedient in HKAS 19 paragraph 93(b) (the “Practical
expedient”) to account for the offsetable MPF Benefits
as deemed employee contributions to reduce the
current service costs in the period in which the related
services were rendered.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPFLSP offsetting
mechanism in HKSAR” (the “Guidance”) which
provides clarified and detailed guidance on the
accounting considerations relating to the abolition of
the offsetting mechanism. The Guidance clarified that
following the enactment of the Amendment Ordinance,
LSP is no longer a “simple type of contributory plans”
to which the Practical expedient had been intended to

apply.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

(h) Accounting implications of the abolition of

(i)

the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) - Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism
in Hong Kong — Continued

Change in accounting policy on offsetting
arrangement in long service payment scheme in
HKSAR — Continued

By following the Guidance, the Group has therefore
changed its accounting policy and ceased to apply
the Practical expedient and reattribute the deemed
employee contributions on a straight-line basis from
the date when services by employees first lead to their
benefits in terms of the LSP legislation in accordance
with HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a). The cumulative effect of
recognising these adjustments as of 31 December 2022
or for the year then ended was not material and hence
no adjustment was made to the beginning accumulated
losses, or another component of equity.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods
or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same. Control is transferred
over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

— the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘/-ﬁ 7.|- ﬁ% #&% Bﬁ- A-I

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

116

@

Revenue from contracts with customers —
Continued

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods
or services to a customer, the Group determines
whether the nature of its promise is a performance
obligation to provide the specified goods or services
itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for
those goods or services to be provided by the other
party (i.e. the Group is an agent). The Group is a
principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer.
The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is
to arrange for the provision of the specified good or
service by another party. In this case, the Group does
not control the specified good or service provided
by another party before that good or service is
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as
an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any
fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued
(j) Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at
the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected
to be paid as and when employees rendered the
services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in
the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.

(ii) Retirement benefit obligations

The Group contributes to a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for all
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’
relevant income and are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed in the MPF Scheme.
Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contribution
to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to
the MPF Scheme vest immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘/-ﬁ 7.|- ﬁ% #&% Bﬁ- -LI

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. %é,ti%ﬁizaﬁigﬁ&

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL EESHHREER &
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

(j) Employee benefits — Continued
(ii) Retirement benefit obligations — Continued

() EEEN-E&
(i) BIKEFIEE—#E

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries
which operate in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”) are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of its payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions
are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed in the central pension scheme
The Group has no forfeiture of pension scheme
contributions (i.e. Contributions processed by
the employer on behalf of the employee who
has exited the scheme prior to vesting of such
contributions). As at 31 December 2022, no
forfeited contribution under the pension scheme of
the Group is available for deduction of contribution
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payable in coming years.

(iii) BR A 4= E LA iR 17 B E 7R
AKX Z
MEE IR HBURSEHE
i, A B BB AR A E A RS
MEERZMNFIERATA
RELEBHORAAEd=Z-

(iii) Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HEaMERRZFEREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL EESTHEXER-E

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

(j) Employee benefits — Continued
(iii) Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions — Continued

() BEEREAN-&
(iii) IR 7K 4% & LA BR 17 5 2
ZITHRK G

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share option reserve. For share options that vest
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of
the share options is expensed immediately to profit
or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will
be retained in the share options reserve.

RESRRE R AR

REHEHEENRASE
A BER KR A
B (TRt &A™ SR B
iR i) RBEAKE MGG &
REBNRATAREEBS
NIRBEARE - iz (B
Peigftfe) B & E I - 0
EHmEMR AEEREY
PrEREAFEM ISR B IRt 2
A i B RT R A %EZ
BRATAZBHhEr-1&
REMBFANEE (Zzﬂﬁ)
BHEAER UERFAHAX
REREEET A W E B
A IF LA REREE RN
T%Hjﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁ% 5B BB e
= BREZAAEE

B/\TE 5323 ©

BEIREEITEE KRN
PR EER SR BE R
ERDEE - B RER R
& R oL WSk i E T B D
REAT R A ST AT S A AR
{18 7 HE BB WO BRER S AR B
TR R o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘/-ﬁ 7.|- ﬁ% #&% Bﬁ- -LI

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. %é,ti%ﬁizaﬁigﬁ&

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL EESHHREER &
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

(k) Taxation (k) Bi1E

120

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
taxation because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. W&
BERER -

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL =
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued
(k) Taxation — Continued k) BiE-&
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable EERIEA B R ERKE AR

temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

(k) Taxation — Continued

122

M

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax
treatments, the Group considers whether it is probable
that the relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain
tax treatment used, or proposed to be use by individual
group entities in their income tax filings. If it is
probable, the current and deferred taxes are determined
consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax
filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either
the most likely amount or the expected value.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits and (b) cash equivalents, which comprises of
short-term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above.

(m) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group
must incur to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

(n)

(0)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items
in respect of which gains and losses are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income, in which
cases, the exchange differences are also recognised
directly in other comprehensive income.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued
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(0)

(p)

(q)

Foreign currencies — Continued

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect
of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of that
foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the translation reserve.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income and other net gains”.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

.

7

mB} Som
4

(0)

(p)

(@

a
EE

ﬁ%Zﬁi%E&
T BURER — &

ShiE— 17
RENGAVBRRME A%
EREEBrEERBBIES
REMAZBITERREARE
EzHEEE (BNET) WAR
S H A REEz Y E RE
THRE - BUHHANERHIRKXE
BE BIRARSEBRZER-
FFEEZERZRB(WAE) IR
Htb2mUaSER WHRE K &
HETEENRET-

REERINET (L EAKE
RBINEHZ 2 M Ems HHE
BRAEBRBINEBZHMER
Bl ZEHE)R RARBES
ABEZEB MR ESRREZ
PEERZEEN D REREE-

RWB—BBINEBELEZER
PR BRI EECHER AR
BRFRBELIEZBINEE 2 BE
RBE ITEREREHRZE
TEXRETHRE - ELXZERLE
BMOREME2EREER AR
BEREENRERTEBRG

ER-12%:
FEBERTENEEEBRMD
TE Wﬁﬁn%’"

BT 8 BY

RA AR METE A KB 28T R
#75 B B0 BY 75 R A DA R 5 2 W B 7
Bhig - BB T & T LARER

EREELRXABERIFERN
mMAKBERENSTEE (L
B B R AR ACA) M Al UE AR
A E B BR AT 6 B - T 50 AT U ER AR

RIS 1 28 P RERR s B BN IS [
A RE MU FE]BET 2
5l

ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS
Il‘/-.R (= /jﬁ%#&%ﬁﬁ-

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

e %

a8 ZERHEER
EEGS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. W&
BREH-&

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -
Continued

(r) Contingent liabilities (ry RAREE

Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other
unexpected events that give rise to the possibility of an
inflow of economic benefits to the Group and they are
not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
The Group assesses continually the development of
contingent assets. If it has become virtually certain
that an inflow of economic benefits will arise, the
Group recognizes the asset and the related income in
the consolidated financial statements in the reporting
period in which the change occurs.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising
from past events but is not recognised because it is
not probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected
to be met by other parties is treated as a contingent
liability and it is not recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
has become probable. If it becomes probable that an
outflow of future economic benefits will be required for
an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability,
a provision is recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the change
in probability occurs, expect in the extremely rare
circumstances where no reliable estimate can be made.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION -

Continued

(s) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to,
and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various
lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of
the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - Continued

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated, which is the higher of the value in use or fair
value less costs of disposal. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the CGU (or a group of CGUs) and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances which
results in downward revision of future cash flows or upward
revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss or
further impairment loss may arise.

Provision of ECL for accounts receivable, loan and
interest receivables, and other receivables

Accounts receivable with significant balances and credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually. In addition,
the Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL on
accounts receivable, loan and interest receivables, and
other receivables which are not assessed individually using
a provision matrix. The provision rates are based on aging
of debtors/others as groupings of various debtors taking
into consideration the Group’s historical default rates
and forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered.
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REVENUE 5. BXH
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: AEBEWEXRBOMWT
2023 2022
HK$000 HK$’000
FET FET
Revenue from contracts with customers: ZFFAHWE :
Travel media Jifk 4% 1% B8 2,400 14,941
Financial magazine and other g R EAD
media services HEE R 38,370 46,900
Virtual reality ERIRE 552 3,326
41,322 65,167
Revenue from other sources: Hth iRz s
Interest income FLEMWA 989 1,100
42,311 66,267
Timing of revenue recognition: W SRR
A point in time INE S SE1] 41,322 65,167

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Revenue from travel media

Revenue from travel media includes income from
management fees, registration and exhibitor fees on various
events and conferences organised by the Group. The
revenue was recognised upon completion of the events
and conferences. Income from the provision of services
is recognised upon the provision of the relevant services
rendered and a full payment received in advance is normally
required before the services rendered which is classified
as contract liabilities and the remaining performance
obligations are expected to recognised as revenue within a
year.

Revenue from financial magazine and other media
services

Revenue from service fee income from the provision of
contents and advertising services in multiple well-known
financial magazine was distributed in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) and other media services. Income from
the provision of services is recognised upon the provision of
the relevant services rendered.

Revenue from virtual reality business

Income from the provision of services and sales of good
is recognised at a point in time upon the provision of the
relevant services rendered and when control of the goods
has been transferred, being the goods have been delivered
to the customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

REVENUE - Continued
Revenue from other source

Interest income arising from money-lending
business

Loan interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group determines its operating segments based on
the reports reviewed by the executive directors, the chief
operating decision-maker (“CODM”), that are used to make
strategic decisions.

The Group has five reportable segments. The segments
are managed separately as each business offers different
products and services and requires different business
strategies. The following summary describes the operations
in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

(i) Travel media operations with provision of advertising
services through the internet and travel magazines,
event organising services and magazine publication
(“Travel Media Business”);

(ii) Provision of contents and advertising services in a well-
known financial magazines distributed in the PRC
(“Financial Magazine and Other Media Business”);

(iii) Investment in securities (“Securities Investment”);
(iv) Virtual reality business (the “Virtual Reality”); and
(v) Money lending business (“Money Lending”).

Corporate revenue and expenses are not allocated to the
operating segments as they are not included in the measure
of the segments’ results that is used by the CODM for
assessment of segment performance.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s CODM
monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable to
each reportable segment on the following bases:
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS - Continued

Segment assets include all tangible assets and current assets
with the exception of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, cash and bank balances and other corporate
assets. Segment liabilities include all liabilities managed
directly by the segments other than tax liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
without allocation of corporate administrative expenses,
corporate directors’ emoluments, corporate interest income
and income tax expense. Segment results include all
revenue and expenses, other than reporting inter-segment
provided by one segment to another, if any.

(@) Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and results from continuing operations by reportable
segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

6.

RESH—&
DHEERRERMABNEERRBE
E HERAAEFABEZEMEE
B MBRITERUALEMBEEER
ShonHBEBRREMEBIBERE
BZaE (RBEABRIN) -

Wt MK T2 EZ A RE D HBATE
AZHEERERAXOEEHE S -
HEXTHAX CXEEFME &
EMBBALRERA T T OB -
DEHEEREE MR G KX E—
&2 #8175 — 20 BB 2 (#2345

(oA ) BRIN -

@ PHBERBERRE
AEEREFEEEEL 2 RS
REEETRESBANMT :

BE-_ZE_=+-A=1+-—H

I E
Financial
Travel  Magazine and
Media ~ Other Media  Securities Money Virtual
Business Business  Investment Lending Reality Total
ERE  HERRR
% HUEREK EH5RE HE ERRE @zt
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FAT FET TET FAT
Reportable segment revenue RENBEFZAOHRE
from external customers PHEEE 2,400 38,370 - 989 552 42,311
Reportable segment losses IREHPEE (600) (15,912) - (1,001) 873 (16,640)
Amounts included in the measure of ~ EFADHIEFFEM
segment profit or loss: RESH:
Depreciation ig - - (10) (466) (171) (647)
Impairment losses on accounts ERERAEFRZE
receivables, net = (15,060) - = = (15,060)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of Hip a2 ClE
on other receivables BE) /REFEER - (36) - = 3,231 3,195
Reversal of impairment losses on ERER R EEREE
loan receivables - - - 163 - 163
Reportable segment assets ARENHEE - 51,250 15,733 11,482 20 78,485
Reportable segment liabilities IREHHEE - (30,373) = (205) (860)  (31,438)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &2 =

=
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6. OPERATING SEGMENTS - Continued 6. L&D —H&
(a) Segment revenues and results — Continued (@ PHEXREREXHE-&
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-E-_-—F+=A=+-—H
I E
Financial
Travel  Magazine and
Media ~ Other Media  Securities Money Virtual
Business Business Investment Lending Reality Total
REKE  BER
E3 S ﬁﬁﬂﬂ%nﬁ EHRE BE  EERE &t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET TET FET FET TET FET
Reportable segment revenue RENPERZ
from external customers UHRENBEER 14,941 46,900 - 1,100 3,326 66,267
Reportable segment losses REHHER (8,081) (15,403) - (1,456) (1,504)  (26,444)
Amounts included in the measure of ~ EF AR HIEFEFEMH
segment profit or loss: REEE:
Depreciation & - - (10) (466) (357) (833)
Impairment losses on accounts YRR REER
receivables - (20,562) - - - (20,562)
Impairment loss on other receivables — EAiEMFIE 2 REBE - - (820) - (3,231) (4,051)
Reversal of impairment losses on ERERRESRED
loan receivables - - - 818 - 818
Reportable segment assets RENBEE - 48,721 15,293 12,865 15,347 92,226
Reportable segment liabilities RENHERE - (3,962) - (1,437) (527) (5,926)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

KREDH-&

(b) PHEH BEREBEZYH

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS - Continued 6.
(b) Reconciliation of segment profit or loss, assets

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Revenue EXE
Reportable segment revenue ARED S ERE 42,311 66,267
Profit or loss Bi
Reportable segment losses Al TR o EBE5 18 (16,640) (26,444)
Unallocated corporate income Ao EEERA 2,000 5,081
Unallocated corporate expenses Ao ERX (33,975) (21,611)
Consolidated losses before taxation RBAIGREER (48,615) (42,974)
Assets BE
Segment assets D EE E 78,485 92,226
Unallocated corporate assets AOREEEE 6,614 18,197
Consolidated assets REEE 85,099 110,423
Liabilities afE
Segment liabilities DEFBE 31,438 5,926
Unallocated corporate liabilities AoREEEE 2,077 1,692
Consolidated liabilities reEAaE 33,515 7,618
132  Sino Splendid Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS - Continued
(c) Geographic information
The Group’s operations and workforce are mainly
located in Singapore and Hong Kong. Information about
the Group’s revenue from continuing operations from
external customers is presented based on the location
of the operations. Information about the Group’s non-
current assets is presented based on the geographical
location of the asset. The following table provides
an analysis of the Group’s revenue from external

6. REE—1&E
() WEEH
AEEYEBRETITBOAY
I % B o 75 B AN 5 W R A b
BES 2 EE S EB KRG
BRTIRBE S 2 25 56
AEBERSEEZERTRE
BEZIWBAE 25 T & #35
AEERANBES 2 LEES
i

customers.
Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—RHLEE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
HK$7000 HK$’000
FET FET
Singapore ¥ h3% - 14,941
Hong Kong e 41,759 48,000
PRC allE 552 3,326
42,311 66,267

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s
non-current assets.

TREINAKEFRRBDEE 2D

A7

Year ended 31 December

BE+=-A=+—RHLEE

2023 2022

—E=-= —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Hong Kong o 5,544 6,020
PRC allEY 2 669
5,546 6,689

(d) Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue
attributable to the Group’s largest customer accounted
for 14% (2022: 6%) of the Group’s total revenue
and aggregate revenue attributable to the five largest
customers of the Group accounted for 43% (2022:

29%) of the Group’s total revenue.

RESRRE R AR

d) FEEFZER
BE_ET-_=f+-_A=+—
AEFEE REXAEEZARTFR
MEEBEEAEEREETE14%
(ZZ=Z=F:6%) RAXEH
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS - Continued 6. RED W&
(d) Information about major customers — d) TEFEFZER-&
Continued
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years EAREBBEERBRI0%HNER
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group RERFEERMHNEEENT:

are as follows:

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—-HLFE

2023 2022
—EC-=HF g
HK$000 HK$000
FET FET
Customer A — Financial magazine BEPA — B
and other media business H AT 6,000 -
7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET GAINS 7. HtW AR H At W 5 % 8
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—-HLEE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—fF
HK$7000 HK$’000
FET FET
Bank interest income ERITF B UL A 36 -
Interest income from fixed deposit EHTF R F B A - 70
Dividend income from financial assets QAR EFABRZ
at FVTPL PREEZRERA - 34
Other income E AU A 26 656
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries TENBRARZER - 8,762
Realised losses on financial assets BEARBit A BR eREE
at FVTPL (“P-funds”) ZEEREBR(LEES]) (1,025) (5,027)
Fair value changes on financial assets ZARBEFABRZZEHEE
at FVTPL ZAREE 2,963 (3,312)
2,000 1,183
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED 8. EHHEEFEEXTHES
CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL B HIBR#EE O

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=1+T—-HLHFE

2023 2022
—EC-=E —E-—fF
HK$7000 HK$000
FET FET

Impairment losses (recognised)/reversal on: AN &8 2 (B HERME

EiE) RAEEERED

— Accounts receivable — W BR =K (15,060) (20,562)
— Loan receivables —EWE R 163 818
— Other receivables — H fth fE W SR IB 3,195 (4,051)
(11,702) (23,795)

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BE KK

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+—-HLFE

2023 2022

—EBE-=5F =z
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest on bond payable e ERHZH & - 180
Interest on lease liabilities HERGBEZHE - 3
- 183

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FRBBAX

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—-HLFE

2023 2022
—E=-= -

HK$’000 HK$000
FET TET

Current tax: BRI AR IR -
— Hong Kong —&B - (49)
Under provision in prior year F—FEEEBETE (456) e
Income tax expense PS8 5 X (456) (49)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE - Continued

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly,
the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity
is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the
estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits above HK$2 million.

The calculation of current tax of the Group’s subsidiaries in
Singapore is based on a prevailing corporate tax rate of 17%
(2022: 17%).

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to
loss before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

10. FTEHHEX—&

BEEEMNNESHMAH AEKE
F R H2,000,00008 705 F 5 1%
8.25% i E & - #1B2,000,0007% 7T
2o EE TS 1E16.5% EF - A&
FIEHMAGERNEEERBANEF
B EER16.5% 25— THEHH -
t AEREBEENEENERIZ
HET R & Fl B2,000,0007% 7T A9
8.25% s & + M 182,000,000 7T A
T ERRB A A BIZ16.5% 5T & -

AR B AR AN 2 BT B X &) B9 B HA
MIBTRBRITRAAREI7% (ZF

ToFE 7% )&

REFECERSHE((LEME
BRI REEMETOEE G
TENEARAMEFEZREAR
25% ©

REEZ FEREYRGA BRI
o 2 T k2 2% 5 AT B 9 2 B
T

Year ended 31 December

BE+=-A=+—HLFE

2023 2022
—E-= =
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Loss before taxation B 75 B B 18 (48,615) (42,974)
Tax at statutory tax rate of 16.5% RIEEBE16.5%
(2022: 16.5%) (ZZ==%:16.5%)
AEZBIA (8,021) (7,091)
Tax effect of income not taxable BEARBWAZHBZE (495) (845)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses NAMERA X 2 M8 2,626 7,849
Tax effect of deductible temporary AERATHRE R EZE 2
differences not recognised Mg & - -
Tax underprovision in prior year BEFERERETR 456 -
Tax effect of different tax rates of REMAEERZEZ
subsidiaries operating in other MEARTRBE
jurisdictions MR E 90 38
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not B EA KRR IARB R
previously recognised MR E 5,800 —~
Income tax expense FT 13 %5 7 X (456) (49)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

11.LOSS FOR THE YEAR M. FRER
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging/ FABEEMG, (FEA) TFI&IE:
(crediting):
(a) Staff costs (@ BEIEAX

Year ended 31 December

BEt+t-A=+—-BLEFE

2023 2022
—E=-= —F—-
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Staff costs (excluding directors’ BIRA (B
remuneration): BEEME)
— Salaries, allowances and benefits —Fe EUMEEDI S
in kind 848 20,208
— Contributions to defined —REHRTEKRE
contribution pension plans T 47 1,282
— Equity-settled share-based —AEEBEHZRAER
payment expenses for employee AR D A 2
RN - 1,191
895 22,681
(b) Other items (b) HIEB
Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-A=+—-BHLEFE
2023 2022
—E=-= —EF_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Auditor’s remuneration Z RN & 424 410
Depreciation of property, plant ME - -HBELREBITE
and equipment 658 833
Cost of inventories sold BEFEKAK 1,200 302
Expenses to short-term lease FHATE E AR X - 717
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss X (Wam) E1EFE (35) 3,978

RESRRE R AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

Ordinance, is as follows:

. DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS 12.EE55M
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant RIEGEM Em R A M EFE (R A F
to the GEM Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies By RE  FREEZFHMREDT -

Salaries, Contributions
allowances to defined
and benefits ~ Share based Directors  contribution
in kind payment fee  pension plans Total
ﬁ“m{/\TA
e 2HR LA 0 RAEHE
EYRE ERZAR Exhe HE st
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
T TET TET TET TET
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-Z-=%
+=A=t-H
LLFE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Yang Xingan BRZEE - - 120 - 120
Mr. Wang Tao FERE - - 120 - 120
- - 240 - 240
Independent non-executive directors &1 TEF
Ms. Wang Qingling FERRL - - 66 - 66
Ms. Yang Shuyan BRERL - - 120 - 120
Ms. Lee Yim Wah FRELT - - 120 - 120
Ms. Chow Yee Ting B&ELt - - 54 - 54
- - 360 - 360
- - 600 - 600
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE-®-=F
t=A=+-H
LLFE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Yang Xingan BREZEE - - 240 - 240
Mr. Wang Tao TEAE - 137 120 - 257
- 137 360 - 497
Independent non-executive directors B TEF
Ms. Wang Qingling FERRL - - 120 - 120
Ms. Yang Shuyan BRELT - - 120 - 120
Ms. Lee Yim Wah FRELT - - 120 - 120
= ’ 360 - 360
- 137 720 - 857
During both years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, BE_T_="FR_T__F+A
no remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors, =Et+t—HBIEMEFEE AEEHER
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group as EEXNBEERMAREEIHN N
compensation for loss of office. AR Z REVSAERBERIARE
Sino Splendid Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

ECECCFf A= —HIFE

12. DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS - Continued NEEFM-&
There was no arrangement under which a director or chief FRN BEFHEFTIRSTHAER
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration WEXFBHEEMMEEZHE-
during the year.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, no share options BHE—_T_=F+-_F=+—HlI
of the Company was granted to the directors in respect of FE HBERBEAARBRETSH®
their services provided to the Group under a share option EERAKBERHTZIREABHEE
scheme of the Company (2022: 46,298,000). EREARABRE(ZZE -5
46,298,000 ) °
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for FXATRATEZTZME IR KREFE
their services in connection with the management of the BARARANEEBEBAERHR 2 RS
affairs of the Company and the Group. [IEE0
The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments EXFRARBYIFATEST ZME o5
shown above were for their services as directors of the REEERRTEFIRMEZ IR
Company. X e
13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES B.LERSHFHES
The five highest paid employees of the Group included one FRN - AEBRLEE=SFMWMEES 21E
(2022: one) director for the year, whose remunerations are —H (T —F: —R)EF HF
included in note 12 above. Details of the remuneration for BHELS B P EE12 - FAGBTIHEE (=
the year remaining four (2022: four) highest paid employees T_oF NB)REFMES (LI
who are neither a director nor chief executive of the ARBEFTHNRSITEHAER) B H M
Company are set out below: AT
Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=+—BHLEFE
2023 2022
—E-= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind  ¥4% - 2B R EWHZE 728 1,620
Contributions to defined contribution FERFOR K E A I
pension plans 23 69
751 1,689
FEERRRIERBRLT “TE=FFR 139
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES - Continued 13.E 2B SHMES —&

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the FERRAREZNHZSFTMEE HMN
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within FIATEHRENAZBDAT -

the following bands is as follows:

2023 2022
—_E-= g
Number of Number of
employees employees

EEAH BE A

NIL to HK$1,000,000 Z B ILE1,000,0007 7T 4 4

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0018 7L ZE1,500,00075 7T - -
4 4

During both years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no B Z-_=—FNK_ZT-_—"%+—_AH

remuneration were paid by the Group to the five highest =T —HRIEMEFE AEELHER

paid employees, as an inducement to join or upon joining EEESFMEEXNMESIER/MA

the Group as compensation for loss of office. REBRMAEZ REN S AE BB

&

The remuneration of one (2022: one) senior management — R (ZTZ_F:—F)aREBA

personnel has been disclosed in the above table of the five B2HME RN EXEMO R RS

highest paid employees. BEZRIBAWE -

14. DIVIDENDS 14. & 2
The board of directors does not recommend payment of any EEERBRITTREBE_T_=F
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). TZA=Z+T—RILEFEMNERRKRE (=

To—FiE)-

=
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

15.LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

15. 8 REE
ARGEE AEESRERNRSEE
BRI TS E -

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=1+T—-HLHFE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
HK$000 HK$000
FHET FET
Loss per share BREE
Loss for the purpose of basic loss per share FARGTEFREKREEZ
Eﬁ%@ (49,071) (43,023)
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: BEEEL @K 2 F 2
Adjustment for share option SBREE LR - —
Loss for the purpose of diluted loss per share ARG E SR EFEE 2
BB (49,071) (43,023)
Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=+—-BLFE
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-F
000 ‘000
FiKR TR
Number of share ignig 4=
Weighted average number of ordinary AR EERERERZ
shares in issue for the purpose of BT EBRINE T8
basis loss per share 147,541 135,413
Weighted average number of ordinary ARETEEREEEE 2
shares in issue for the purpose of EETEBRINE T HE
diluted loss per share 147,541 135,413

There were 11,574,500 of outstanding share options as at
31 December 2023 (2022: 19,290,900).

RZEZ=FF+_A=+—H #HK
ITEMBERRE A11,574,50010 (=&
£19,290,90017 ) °

The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume
the exercise of Company’s options because the exercise
price of those options was higher than the average market
price for shares for both 2023 and 2022.

AAEEREEBEERTERKRARRE
PRAEEITE M BN ZEBREN
TEESR-_Z_=FFk-_FT_—
DBy T E -

PEERRBERARLT T =FFW
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 - F - =—4#+=-H=+—HIFFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y% - S R X 1E
Computer
Leasehold Furniture Office equipment Motor
improvement and fixture equipment  and software vehicles Total
BRERE
BEMELE HRAREE  BOERE REM HE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FET TET TET FET TET FET
Cost B
At 1 January 2022 —TZ-%—-f-H 112 566 2,066 2,796 809 6,349
Exchange realignment BB - M (73) 8 - (66)

At 31 December 2022 and  R-Z-—4#+-F=1—H
—H

1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=%—R 112 565 1,993 2,804 809 6,283
Additions NE - - - _ _ _
Written-off k! (112) (565) (1,396) 9) - (2,082)
Exchange realignment [ - - (23) 4 - (19)
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=%+=-A=1+-H - - 574 2,799 809 4,182
Accumulated depreciation ~ R E
At 1 January 2022 R-E-—%—F—-H 112 554 1,020 1,453 809 3,948
Charge for the year FRX M - 9 346 478 - 833
Exchange realignment I 5 R - - 33) 7 - (26)
At31 December 2022 and H-T-—F+-HA=+—H

at 1 January 2023 kR=—E=Z=%-F-H 112 563 1,333 1,938 809 4,755
Charge for the year FRXMH - 2 173 483 - 658
Written-off W (112) (565) (921) 7) - (1,605)
Exchange realignment [ 5% B - - (11 - - an
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB-=%+-A=t+-H - - 574 2,414 809 3,797
Net book value REFE
As at 31 December 2023 R-E-=f£+-A=+—H - - - 385 - 385
As at 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+ZA=1—H - 2 660 866 - 1,528
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17. GOODWILL

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

ECECCFf A= —HIFE

17. 58

Financial Magazine and Other Media Business

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated,
at acquisition, to the CGU that is expected to benefit from
that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill
of approximately HK$5,161,000 as at 31 December 2023
(2022: HK$5,161,000) was related to Financial Magazine
and Other Media Business, as further explained below.

BB EMERER
REBEHBBZEHEIRKERS
REBHERZESRAHTRZEZR
CELEEN -BEN T _=ZF+=
A=+—H®MER®EELS5,161,000%
T(ZZT = —4%:5,161,000/% 7T ) &
AR EMEREREH F15
it A B U (I N

2023 2022
—E-=F —ZE=-=

HK$’000 HK$'000
FHETT TET

Cost A
At the beginning of year FH) 5,161 5,161
Accumulated impairment losses ZEREEBRE - -
Net book value at the end of year FHREREFE 5,161 5,161

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, goodwill of
approximately HK$5,161,000 was arising from the
acquisition of Able Professional Enterprises Limited and its
subsidiary (the “Able Group”) in 2016. At each reporting
date, goodwill is subject to impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of the CGU in relation to the
Financial Magazine and Other Media Business has been
determined using cash flow projections to calculate value
in use based on estimates and financial budgets approved
by the Directors of the Company. These projections cover a
five-year period, and have been discounted using a discount
rate of 16.8% (2022: 12.5%). Cash flow beyond the five-
year period are extrapolated using growth rates of 3% (2022:
3%).

All of the assumptions and estimations involved in the
preparation of the cash flow projection including budgeted
gross margin, discount rate and growth rate which were
determined by the directors of the Company based on their
experience and expectation for future market development.

RESRRE R AR

R_E_=FR_ZB__F+_H
=+—H ®HE%5,161,0008 T K B
R =ZZF—NFUEE Able Professional
Enterprises Limited & H [ff & 2 7
([Able & B ]) REHmREBH BHE
AEITRERN G-

MM EMERBERNRE
EABEMAAKESREEREARRDA
EEMMAEZAFT AV BREZEF AR
CRERAGETHRHEEEE -ZF
FERRERFEM WEF H16.8%
(ZEBE - -F:12.5%) 7 BhIR KB
B BBRAFHEMNRESREFHI%
TR _F 3% ) MIBRRES-

=

RERSRERBAS M2 ABERR
EHEr (BRERBEEMNX BN K KL
ER)HARREZREBEALR R
BAREMIGERZFAHMETE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

17. GOODWILL - Continued 17. B8 -&
Financial Magazine and Other Media Business — HREERHAMEREER &
Continued
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, BHE T =k _T__F+=
directors of the Company determines that there is no R=+—RBLEE XRFEFETF
impairment on a the Able group. Able 5 B 3 SR (E
The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying A EEfEESNAble EE R EE
amount of Able Group. Directors of the Company believes B-ARAEFHE ZFRINE
that any reasonably possible charge in any of these e REE BT e EBORE-

assumptions would not result in impairment.

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 18. B A AET AEEZ 22 ®mE

PROFIT OR LOSS E
2023 2022
—EBECZ=HF —F-=
HK$’000 HK$000
FETT TFET
Financial assets mandatorily REIE A EFABR
measured at FVTPL: E‘*%Zi@ﬁ? :
Listed securities held for trading: FEEE FTES
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong N J:HUZHX$EJ§‘” 12,565 5,180
Unlisted securities, at fair value FEMHEHF ERIAEIE
— Equity interests in private equity funds —“RAEREES
(“P-funds”) (IRBEE]) 2B - 1,425
12,565 6,605
Analysed for reporting purpose as: MImEBNIFAT
Current assets MENE E 12,565 6,605
Non-current assets ERBEE - -
12,565 6,605
The listed securities held for trading are classified as current FHEBEELTEFDPBRRARDY RHAE
as the management expects to realise these financial assets REBERHANRBERRT_EARN
with twelve months after the reporting period. SRPACREE -
The P-fund commenced dissolution procedures since MEEEB _T__FNALKMBRE
September 2022, which was not yet completed within the BAEF RZmERAEARTK R
reporting period. As at 31 December 2022, it is classified as T+ A=t—B A%
current. The dissolution was completed on 17 March 2023. BAR ER_T_=F=A++
B 5T K R AR
The details of fair value measurement are set out in note AREAEZFHBENMFE33(Db)(v) °
33(b)(iv).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

19. LOAN RECEIVABLES

The Group's loan receivables arose from the money lending
business during the year.

Loan receivables bear interest at fixed rates, and with
credit periods, mutually agreed between the contracting
parties. Loan receivables are unsecured. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly and handled closely by senior
management, if any.

19. EIRE X
FER-REE Y ERE R ERIEE
jé%o

FEWE IR EE A EF B EE M\
FT# 77 KR E - R E SRR AR -
Mg (NE ) e R EEEEY

i af K B YD R o B 1R

o

2023 2022
—B-=F —E-—

HK$000 HK$000

FET FHEIT

Fixed rate loan receivables REE AR B2 ERE R 11,000 11,000
11,000 11,000
Less: Allowance of credit losses W EEEERE (1,106) (1,269)
9,894 9,731

Analysed as: DM
Current assets MENE E 9,894 9,731
hEERGRZRARLF “EZ=FF®H 145
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

LOAN RECEIVABLES - Continued

The loan receivables, net of allowance, at the end of the
reporting period are analysed by the remaining period to
contractual maturity date as follows:

19. BEIRER—&

RI|EBR BUER CAREE)Z
BHEMAR 2RO -

2023 2022

—E-=F —Eg-=
HK$7000 HK$000
FET FET
Within 3 months =@mARA - -
3 months to 1 year =@EAE—%F 9,894 9,731
9,894 9,731

The average effective interest rate was at 10% per year as at
31 December 2023 (2022: 10%).

Included in the carrying amount of loan receivables as
at 31 December 2023 is accumulated impairment losses
of HK$1,106,000 (2022: HK$1,269,000). Details of
impairment assessment are set out in note 33(b)(ii).

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the
reporting period is the carrying amount of the loan
receivables. The Group seeks to maintain tight control
over its loan receivables in order to minimise credit risk by
reviewing the borrowers’ or guarantors’ financial positions.

All loan receivables are dominated in HKS.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

R_E-_=ZF+_A=+—H"'F
HEBFMEAEI0% (T - _F:
10% ) °

RZEZ=%+=-_H=+—8"
EUWEFREBEBSEZARE
E 181,106,000 T (T = —F:
1,269,000/8 7t) WA IH 2 F B H
RHFFE33(b)(i) °

REEPRNZEREERRAEKE
TOEmE - AEEEBESERA
S ER AR B GIRR BN M R
Hﬂz,%f E’J/‘EWT - AR 15 B R B R

FrE R E RIS IAETTRHE -
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ECECCFf A= —HIFE

20. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. EWBR R R H fth FE W X 1E
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=

HK$000 HK$000
FET FET
Accounts receivable JE Lt BR X 89,243 83,034
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEEEE (58,391) (43,330)
30,852 39,704
Prepayments TR RRIA - 178
Deposits and other receivables e N E A E W I8 6,011 18,575
Less: Allowance for credit losses B IEEEERE (891) (4,086)
5,120 14,667

Total accounts and other receivables JFE Uk BR 3k B E b JE Uk FRTE
PR 35,972 54,371

At 1 January 2023, accounts receivable from contracts with
customers amounted to HK$21,617,000.

The general credit period ranged from 30 days to 90 days,
extending up to 180 days for major customers.

The following is an aging analysis of accounts receivable,
net of allowance for credit losses presented based on the
invoice date:

R-E-_=ZF—HF—H kKEBEFA
#)2 FEUWER 7 A21,617,0008 7T ©

—REEHNF302908  HEHFTE
EPBAIEEH%180H o

REZHZAHM2IN MR EEFER
BN Z R DTAT

2023 2022

—E-=f =
HK$000 HK$'000
FET TET
Within 90 days 90H A 9,022 11,971
91-120 days 91-120H 2,988 9,566
121-180 days 121-180H 6,000 4,225
Over 180 days and within 360 days HEiE180HE T #E360H 12,842 3,227
Over 360 days #838360H - 10,715
30,852 39,704

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s
accounts receivable balance were debtors with aggregate
carrying amounts of approximately HK$9,022,000 (2022:
HK$11,971,000) which were neither past due nor impaired.

Out of the past due balances, HK$21,830,000 (2022:
HK$27,733,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is
not considered as in default.

RESRRE R AR

R -_=Z=F+=—_HA=+—8"
AEB 2 REKERGEHRT  REE
#99,022,0008 T (Z 2= - F:
11,971,000/ 7T ) 2 & U BR 7k oK %60 HA
TR A

R EAsrEE S - 21,830,000 ¢ (=
T - " 4:27,733,000/8 ) 2 HA
QOB L BWRIERBEL -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES -
Continued

Included in deposits, prepayments and other receivables
was approximately HK$Nil (2022: HK$97,000) of security
accounts as at 31 December 2023.

Details of impairment assessment of accounts and other
receivables are set out in note 33(b)(ii).

20.

JE Ui BR X 2 HL th FE U TR 18 —
]
RZEBE-_=ZF+_A=+—H &&"
TEMRIE R E A WK TE B IERE
SHEBT(ZFE - —F:97,0008
JL) °

JiE U B 3k N H b e Wk BB 2 R E RT
B KT EE33(b) (i) ©

Cash and cash equivalents include short term deposits
for the purpose of meeting the Group’s short term cash
commitments, which carry interest at market rates which
range from 0.001% to 0.5% (2022: 0.001% to 0.5%).

As at 31 December 2023, bank balances and cash
amounting to approximately HK$42,000 and HK$376,000
(2022: HK$17,000,000 and HK$376,000) were
denominated in United States dollars (“US$”) and Renminbi
(“RMB”), respectively.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are set
out in note 33(b)(ii).

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

.INVENTORIES 21. 78
2023 2022
—_g-= —E_—

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Finished goods LR an - 1,200
Consumable tools FEMIA - 628
- 1,828

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R.BERREEEY

RekReEEBMREREASEEE
HRSAENERER EMEH X
a0 FMENF0.001% & 0.5% (=
T4 :0.001% £0.5%) °

RZZTEZ=F+=-_A=+—8"
RITHEB NI 24 /42,0008 7T
%376,0008 (=% ==
17,000,000 JT %376,0005 7T) * &
FIAETRARESE-

BARTESBETENFBIHAN
5£33(b)(ii) °

ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PN

e ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

2-FC

=FLZA=+—HIFE

23. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. FE A BR AR 2 Lt B 3 7RO
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF=-=
HK$000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Accounts payable (Note (a)) FERHBR SR (72 (a)) - 23
Accrued expenses FEETFI X 3,306 6,132
Other payables H fth &~ 5/ I8 29,216 876
Contract liabilities (Note (b)) BRBIE (MEb) 450 500
32,972 7,531
(@) Accounts payable (@) FEfTERR
The average credit period on purchase is generally REBOHFHEEHR RN F452
ranged 45 to 90 days. 90H -
The following is an aged analysis of accounts payable RBERRBIEEZBHMED
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the ZRRNBRRZERR DT
reporting period:
2023 2022
—E-=F —ECF
HK$000 HK$'000
F#7 Fit
Within 90 days 90BN - 23
91-120 days 91-120H - -
- 23
(b) Contract liabilities (b) EHREE
Contract liabilities, that are not expected to be settled BHTERAEEEESERN
within the Group’s normal operating cycle, are NEENEHNEBERBAREEM
classified as current and non-current based on the FEFEREMIRBNEKER
Group’s earliest obligation to transfer goods or services E-PBERRBEIERT-

to the customers.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

23. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES - 23. FEAY BR AR I Lt B 7R OR —
Continued &
(b) Contract liabilities — Continued (b) EHNEBE-E&
Movements in contract liabilities BREIEEE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$7000 HK$'000
FHETT TET
At 1 January Eé—ﬂ —H 500 2,263
Decrease in contract liabilities as a BHREBARFRER
result of recognising revenue e 25 i R
during the year (500) (2,263)
Increase in contract liabilities as BHABERRFRNUER
a result of receiving sales $HE & Mg A
deposits during the year 450 500
At 31 December R+=—A=+—~H 450 500
24. BOND PAYABLE 24. B4 E %
The movement of the bond payable is as follows: ENEHFzEHMT:
2023 2022
—E_=H —ZET—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
At beginning of year F1 - 6,180
Issue during the year FRET - -
Interest charge for the year REEMBRAX - 180
Repayment during the year FRER - (6,360)
At the end of year F 1% - -
In the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company issued BHE_ZT_—F+-_A=+—HIEF
fixed rate corporate bonds with total principal amount of € RNRFEITARE HEFEX6,000,000
approximately HK$6,000,000. BILZERRAIES-
The bonds payables are unsecured and interest bearing at ENEFAEET RETREFH
fixed coupon rates 6% per annum and matured on 5 July Ke% st RN T+ ARH
2022. The principal and interests of the bond were fully M- BERAEEMNEER T ==
paid during 2022. FREEAT -
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 25. Al R E %

On 9 June 2022, the Company issued the convertible bonds
(the “CB”) with principal amount of HK$9,250,000 at the
conversion price of HK$0.10 per share of the Company,
which, if fully converted, is equivalent to 92,500,000 new
shares of the Company.

The CB are denominated in HK$, is unsecured and will be
matured is on the second anniversary of the issue date. The
CB entitle the holder to convert them into ordinary shares
of the Company at any time between the date of issue of the
notes and the maturity date at an initial conversion price of
HK$0.10 (subject to adjustment, if necessary). If CB have
not been converted or redeemed, they will be redeemed
on the date of maturity (i.e. 9 June 2024) at par. Interest of
1.5% will be paid annually up until the settlement date.

At initial recognition, the equity component of the CB was
separated from the liability component. The equity element
is presented in equity heading “Convertible bonds reserve”.
The early redemption option is considered as closely related
to the host debt. The effective interest rate of the liability
component is 10.86%.

At any time on or after 9 June 2022, the Group may redeem
the CB in whole or in part at the pre-determined redemption
prices. The fair value of the early redemption right was
insignificant.

On 15 June 2022, CB was fully converted into 9,250,000
ordinary shares of the Company at the conversion price of
HK$0.1 per ordinary share.

The movement of the liability component of the CB for the
year is set out below:

RZE-_FRXANLB KA AKRE
BESRARARKRM.10BITEITA
& 4 %8 59,250,000/8 JT B A A % B
HF(IAmBRES])  WESHELR
& 792,500,000 A R~ &) A% 17 o

ARBEHFUNBITHE AERAK
BRBETEHHREE —@ABFEEE-0
BREHFR THEAEF  AJREH
BTHBEIHEMERIZY SR
FE{B0.108 T (R ERA] FHE) &
AHREFERABARRR LB -
AHMBEESFAEEBSER AR
BB (A ZE-_WFANLHE)K
HEEER - #§1%21.5% F R §F 7
BCEEEEHBSAIL-

W) 2 HE BB - Al R IR 55 2 M

B)I
DvEﬁ

DEABEHNSNFH BRI NER
WA E SRR 27 R F R lil

w B
okk
=S

ﬁé%ﬁ‘zﬁﬁiﬁizﬁ‘w YIiEE -8
D EBRFERE10.86% °

RZZBEZZFRNANBHZEOEM
A AEBEZRBELEETHED
BEOZIHIMBOAIRRKRES RF
BOENAABELTEKN.

R-_E-_—FXA+HB AJEKE
5P KEBRESRETBERIBILE
i 59 250,00008 A A 7] E AL o

FARBRBEFRERD < ZBH I
LA

2023 2022
—E=-= —ZF—_-

HK$7000 HK$000
FETT FET

Carrying amount at the beginning REF 2 REE
of the year - gl
Issued during the year FREIT - 7,713
Conversion during the year F QR = (7,713)
Carrying amount at the end of the year FAREREE - —

RESRRE R AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

26. SHARE CAPITAL

26. R A

Number of ordinary

shares of ~ Number of ordinary
HK$0.01 each  shares of HK$0.04 Share capital
5R0.01ETH 51R0.04B L1
EBRYA EBRYA [
HK$000
FET
Authorised: BE:
At 1 January 2022, R-T-—%-A-8"
31 December 2022, “Z-—"%+-R=+—H"
1 January 2023 and —Z=E-A-Bk
31 December 2023 —T-=%+-A=+-H - 12,500,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BITRBR:
At 1 January 2022 RZZEZZF5—-A—H 478,413,723 - 4,784
Issue of shares under exercise of RTEBRERTRND
share option 19,250,000 - 193
Issue of shares under conversion of ReEna R ESETRR
convertible bonds (ii) 92,500,000 - 925
Share consolidation (i) Btn & Bt () (590,163,723) 147,540,930 -
At 31 December 2022, RZBZZ%+ZA=+-H"
1 January 2023 and “E-Z%-A-8Ak
31 December 2023 “Z-=Ff+-A=1+-H - 147,540,930 5,902
Notes: B at
(i) On 24 June 2022, the Company completed a share (i) RZE__F#RA-_+HWA"
consolidation which involve the consolidation of every four RRARTEEBKGE G EEMEK
shares of HK$0.01 into one consolidated share of HK$0.04 EREBEOIBILZBRNEHA
each. — R ERMEE.048 T2 A HHi%
%o
(i) On 15 June 2022, the Company issued 9,250,000 of ordinary (ii) RZBEZZFXATHEB AR

shares upon the convertible bondholders exercised the
conversion rights attaching to the convertible bonds at the
conversion price of HK$0.1 per share.
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27. 1B
(i) BB &EE

27. RESERVES
(i) Share premium

(ii)

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands (2010
Revision as amended from time to time), the share
premium and capital reserve of the Company may be
applied for payment of distributions or dividends to
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) provided
that immediately following the date on which the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

Capital reserves

In 2009, the Company exercised a capital reduction
by reducing its share capital from HK$1,000,000,000
divided into 250,000,000 shares of HK$4.00 each to
HK$2,500,000 divided into 250,000,000 shares of
HK$0.01 each (the “Capital Reduction”). The effect
arising from the Capital Reduction was transferred to
the capital reserve account and applied for payment of
distributions or dividends to shareholders.

(iii) Capital redemption reserves

Capital redemption reserve represents the share
repurchases made by the Company.

(iv) Reserves fund

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for foreign
investment enterprises (“FIEs”) established in the PRC
(excluding Hong Kong), a certain portion of the FIE's
profits is required to be transferred to reserve funds
which are not distributable. Transfers to this reserve are
made out of the FIE's profits after taxation calculated
in accordance with accounting principles and financial
regulations applicable to PRC enterprises (“PRC GAAP")
and shall not be less than 10% of profit after taxation
calculated in accordance with PRC GAAP. No such
transfer was made in either year as there was no such
profit after taxation from the FIEs in either year.

RESRRE R AR

REASEESRARE(ZF—F
FRAIAN KIRER])  ARF
B dn ot 8 K B At s Al L BB
TR BE T AR R AR (T
R HEZEEZOKIREE
B ARARENRETEBKBREF
SR ZER -

(i) EXREE

RZZEZTANF ARABHERK
X BE1,000,000,000% 7T (9 A
250,000,000/% & %4.007% 7t 2
B&% 1% ) 38 4 22,500,000 7T (5
£250,000,0000% & #%0.017% 7T
2B (TRRABIRE]) o BRZAHI
BEEZEEREE A EBE
I A] B VE 9 R 3k B AR BT R
%o

(iii) EABEE 5

BARBEEFEEREARAMFELAR
DM -

(iv) fEES

REBEARETR (TEEEE)
AL Z S ER X ([ ERE
TR ZBBERRBAN - HINE
BRECEZETHRMNABEED
ADkZFEEEN - BRERHE
TS BIORBERNPELE

GEFER R B ARG ([
EEEHENDFEIERED
XZBREEMFE THER
RIEFBE MRS ELFE 2R
A& 5 T 2 10% ° M 8 F E R 15
BREIARELEZHRBR LG
Ak P B R Y BT R R
B
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

27.RESERVES - Continued 27. e — &
(v) Translation reserves (v) BEXR#E
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange BEHREEDEMEREGINER
differences arising from the translation of the financial PTG MR E A B IME ZREIA K
statements of foreign operations as well as the effective HHRNZFBINEBREFRE
portion of any foreign exchange differences arising ERNEZR 2 BERED -
from hedges of the net investment in these foreign
operations.
28. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 28. FE IR =
Share of
net assets of
subsidiaries
7 1 B 1
DNEAFEE
HK$000
FET
As at 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, R_ZE-_—%—HA—H8"
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 2 —F+ZA=+—8"
s =D
—E-_F+-HA=+—H 2,029
Less: Deregistration of subsidiaries M E AR FIEER (2,029)
As at 31 December 2023 W_E_=%+-_HA=+—H -
The non-controlling shareholder CDC Mobile Media RBEFEFF10%RENERRF
Company (the “CDC”) of a subsidiary of the Company that — B AREERERCDC
held 10% equity interest in prior years was deregistered Mobile Media Company ([CDC )&
during the year ended 31 December 2023. REBZ_ZT_=F+t-R=+—H1t
FEANTHER-
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29.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (2013
Share Option Scheme”) on 31 December 2013, which was
approved by the Shareholders at the EGM held on the same
date. The 2013 Share Option Scheme will expire on 31
December 2023.

The purpose of the 2013 Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Group to grant share options to eligible participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the growth of
the Group and to provide the Group with a more flexible
means to reward, remunerate, compensate and/or provide
benefits to the eligible participants.

According the 2013 Share Option Scheme, the board of
directors may grant share options to eligible participants
as defined in the 2013 Share Option Scheme and the
board of directors has its sole discretion considers eligible
for the 2013 Share Option Scheme on the basis of their
contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all share options to be granted under the
2013 Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company must not exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company on the date of approval
and adoption of the 2013 Share Option Scheme provided
that the Company may at any time seek approval from
the Shareholders to refresh the limit to 10% of the shares
in issue as at the date of approval by the Shareholders in
general meeting where such limit is refreshed. Share options
previously granted under any share option schemes of the
Company (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed
in accordance with such schemes or exercised options) will
not be counted for the purpose of calculating the limit as
refreshed.

RESRRE R AR

29. LR AERZNRRS

ARARBER-_E—=F+-A=+—
BEM—EERENE (2T —=
FRERETS]) ZBEBRESIERN
B HRITHRRERIAS EERER
T ——FHEREFEBEN=Z
—=H4+-A=t+—HEH-

—E-CZFRREMEEERARE
EHRAER2EERLBRIEER
B EH RSB IERFE L E R AR
sk BRE) AR AN SR B BE 59 AN T A i 2
BB mER KR ER2 A
ERMAN

RE-ZF-=FEREFE EFT
ARaERZ2EE (ERR-FT—=
FREEAIRLERELESS
AREREHSRNEENERLIERDN
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS -
Continued

The total number of shares issued and may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the share options granted under the
2013 Share Option Scheme and any of other share option
scheme(s) of the Company (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding options) to each eligible participant in
any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at the date
of grant unless such grant has been duly approved by
ordinary resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting
at which the relevant eligible participant and his associates
abstained from voting. Share options granted to substantial
Shareholders or Independent Non-executive Directors or
any of their respective associates in any 12-month period
in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s issued share capital on
the date of grant and with a value in excess of HK$5 million
must be approved in advance by the Shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 7 days from the
date of the offer upon payment of a nominal consideration
of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of
the share options granted is determinable by the board of
directors. There is no general requirement on the minimum
period for which option must be held before an option can
be exercised. All option shares must be exercised within 10
years from the date of grant of options.

The exercise price was determined by the board of directors
and will not be less than the higher of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant, (ii) the
average closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and the (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s share.

In accordance with the terms of the 2013 Share Option
Scheme, the options granted vested at the date of grant.

At 31 December 2023, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remained outstanding
under the Scheme was 11,574,500 (2022: 19,290,900),
representing 13% (2021: 10%) of the shares of the Company
in issue at that date.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS -
Continued
During the year, no share options (2022: 46,298,000 share
options) were granted under the 2013 Share Option Scheme,
the movements of number of share options under the Share
Option Scheme during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022 are as follows:

Number of share options

29. LR AERZNRRS

]

FR - BERE_-_T— =FE)
BFEREERE(ZDZE -
46,298,000 B iE) HE=_Z
—=FR-FE-_—_F+=-A=+—H
IEFE - BREGFEBETEREZE
BT

=

BREHA
Adjusted during
the period  Outstanding at Exercise
Granted Exercised Lapsed  upon effective 31 December Lapsed price of Fair value
Category of Outstanding at during during during of the Share 2022 and during  Outstanding at 31 Exercisable period of share options*  per option at
participant 1 January 2022 the year the year the year  consolidation 1 January 2023 theyear  December 2023 share options (restated) grant date
RZZZZf
tzA=t-8
R=B=ZF RE®  R=B-=F RZBI=F BRE  SHERR
-B-H AfERE -A-8 “B=t-H TR RRUAEY
SRERFH CEX FRRM FRTR FRER ArRE HATE  FRAKXK HATHE BRETES (ZE5) DAE
Directors 3,858,200 - (3,850,000) (8,200) - - - - 15 May 2020 to 14 May 2022 0.3480 0.03009
Ex T_TERATRAZE
ZE-CERATEA
Director - 4,629,800 - - (3,472,350 1,157,450 - 1,157,450 11 April 2022 to 10 April 2024 0.3272 0.0297
S SECCERAT-EE
“RoRERATH
Employee 15,432,800 - (15,400,000 (32,800 - - - - 15 May 2020 to 14 May 2022 0.3480 0.03071
B8 T_TFRATRAZE
“R-ERATEA
Employee 30,865,600 - - - (23,149,200) 7,716,400 (7,716,400) -9 Aprll 2021 to 8 April 2023 0.3280 0.0331
&R “ERZ-FMANRE
“ZZZERANA
Employee - 41,668,200 - - (31,251,150 10,417,050 - 10,417,050 11 April 2022 to 10 April 2024 0.3280 0.3272
&R “RoCENAT-RE
“RCMERATE
50,156,600 46,298,000 (19,250,000 (41,000) (57,872,700) 19,290,900  (7,716,400) 11,574,500

*  The exercise price of the share options is subject to
adjustment in the case of consolidation of the shares.

RESRRE R AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS -
Continued

These fair values were calculated using the Binomial model.
The inputs into the model were as follows:

Rt AARE

Grant date share price
Estimated fair value of a share option at grant date

Exercise price (before share consolidation) T (R & GaT)
Expected volatility HHKE

Expected life EHFR

Expected dividend yield EHRSMEE
Risk-free interest rate B e RS

EHBRENRLAROGATRAE

29. LR AERZNRRS

,%;
ZERABERA-_EARAFES
Hj °E%§TE’J$H ANEWT:

Share options Share options

granted on granted on

11 April 2022 9 April 2021
R-ZE-ZF R-ZE--F
BAt+-8 MANE
RN RE R nERE
HK$0.08278 7T HK$0.08278 7T
HK$1,328,0008 7t  HK$1,277,0005& 7T
HK$0.081838 7T HK$0.0827% 7T
73.11% 101.79%

2 years 2 2 years 2
1.40% 0.138%

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the past one
year. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on the directors’ best estimate, for the effects of
non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the past one
year. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on the directors’ best estimate, for the effects of
non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of approximately
HK$Nil for the year ended 31 December 2023 in
relation to share options granted by the Company (2022:
HK$1,328,000).

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

30. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

31.

Retirement benefits are paid by an overseas and Hong
Kong subsidiary to its employees who contribute to certain
retirement benefits plans managed by relevant independent
trustees/government authorities. The retirement benefits paid
by the overseas and Hong Kong subsidiaries are based on
a certain percentage of its employees’ relevant income in
accordance with the relevant regulations and are charged
to profit or loss as incurred. The subsidiaries discharged
its required contribution obligations upon payment of the
retirement benefits to its designated trustees/government
authorities.

During the year, the Group made retirement benefits
scheme contributions totaling approximately HK$47,000
(2022: HK$1,282,000) (note 11). At the end of the reporting
period, there are no forfeited contributions.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 28 June 2022, the Group entered into the sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to
dispose of all its 100% equity interest of TTG Asia Limited
and its subsidiaries (the “Disposal Group”), which carried
out travel media operation. The transaction was completed
on 31 October 2022 at a consideration of HK$10,000,000,
on which date control of Disposal Group passed to the
acquirer. The analysis of the results of the Disposal Group is
as follows:

RESRRE R AR

ECECCFf A= —HIFE

30. R KB FIEH &

31.

BINRBAHB AR MR EREBRB
URTEANBFERERZRIKEF
HENEE I HERIKER FIINRE
BHRBRAB SN ZBRABRRES
RO EEE ZHBRANEER
DHFEEREABREZEARNT
B o Bt BB A R SR RAE R F E 45
TZFAABAER%E ERBITH
MEEKET-

FRNAEBEEHRAKEF G #
FREBET4947,0008 L (ZE - —F:
1,282,000/ 70) (FMFaE11) c AMRE
HR - WEE R Z HR-

HENB AT
RZEZ_FXXAZ+N\HBH KEH
BB E A MNEERHE N
HETTG Asia Limited & £ B A 7]
(THEEE])2Z2100%KE LEE
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—TE-—HF+A=+—HBxk KE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

31. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES - Continued

3I.HENBLAR &

32.

160

Analysis of assets and liabilities EERBEIM
HK$7000
FET
Accounts and other receivables JFE WAt AR 3 K L Ath JE LR IR 6,691
Cash and bank balances e RIBITHH 10,065
Accounts and other payables JE 15 BR 3% B H b & A< 3B (10,295)
Contract liabilities aEREaE (2,282)
Lease liabilities HEBRE (1,721)
Net assets disposed of B & &EEFRE 2,458
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEME AR zka
Cash consideration received BUYERER(E 10,000
Net assets disposed of BEHEEEFE (2,458)
Reclassification of cumulative translation reserve HEBINEBEENR DR
upon disposal of subsidiaries to profit or loss 2R HHE 1,220
Gain on disposal & W a 8,762
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEEZR ML HE:
Cash consideration RERE 10,000
Less: cash and bank balances IR e RIRITHE R (10,065)
(65)

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders. In view of the
current cash position of the Group, the directors do not
intend to rely on external financing. Saved as the issue of
corporate bonds in 2021 and the issue of convertible bonds
in 2022, the Group had no other external borrowings as at
31 December 2023 and 2022. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from the prior years.

The Group’s primary objective when managing capital is to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and maximising the return to stakeholders. The Group's
capital structure is regularly reviewed and managed by the
directors. The Group is not subject to externally imposed
capital requirements. To maintain or adjust capital structure,
the Group may adjust dividend payment to shareholders
or issue of new shares or repurchase of existing shares as
well as issue of new debt or repurchase of existing debts.
Adjustments will be made to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions affecting the Company or
its subsidiaries, and the risk characteristics of the Group's
underlying assets. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior years.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@)

(b)

ECECCFf A= —HIFE

33.&€8m T A

Categories of financial instruments @ EWMIAER
2023 2022
—E=-= —ZET—=
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Financial assets cREE
Measured at FVTPL: BARBFF ABRE:
Financial assets at FVTPL BAREFABR EREE 12,565 6,605
Measured at amortised cost: R ARG 2
Accounts and other receivables JFE L B SR R EL A R R HIR 35,972 54,371
Loan receivables FEUE 3 9,894 9,731
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTHH 21,122 31,199
66,988 95,301
Financial liabilities cRA s
Measured at amortised cost: WK ARG E
Accounts and other payables & AF B R K2 L A JE A~ R IR 32,972 7,531
32,972 7,531

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
accounts and other receivables, loan receivables, bank
balances, financial assets at FVTPL, accounts and
other payables. Details of the financial instruments
for the Group is disclosed in respective notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

The risks associated with these financial instruments
include credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk
(foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and other price
risk). The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risks.

RESRRE R AR

(b)

MHREAREERERBE

AEBsITZERTABRER
BRI E L FEMOROR - FRIRE R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — Continued

(i) Market risk
Currency risk
The Group’s business transaction, assets and
liabilities are denominated in RMB and USD and
the functional currency of the Group is HKS$.
Considering the fact that most of the Group’s
transactions are denominated in its functional
currency except for sales denominated in US$, the
Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk arises
from sales denominated in US$.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and

33.8 T H—&

w)@ﬁaﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%—

IIE
(i) T5EE
5] BEE . B

AEBEXBRS BERE
EUAARBRETEE M
AREBZNREERET-
ZREIRRETAENHEE
S REBAKERZ UK
WREE Wt B 7 & A&
Y& Z HME BB 2R B X ITRHE
BHE -

RmERR AEBEIAINE
AAENEBEERERRE

monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting ZEREERT
period are as follows:
Liabilities Assets
=R BE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=F —ZE—-— —B-=F -
HK$7000 HK$’000 HK$7000 HK$’000
FHET TET FET TET
RMB AR 860 527 20,147 15,369
SGD N3 T - - - -
Sensitivity analysis BURE AT

Since HK$ is pegged to US$, there is no significant
exposure expected on US$ transactions and
balances whilst the currency peg remains in place.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued 33.2®ITE-&

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) HBEBEERE RBKX—
policies — Continued &

(i) Market risk — Continued (i) 5 E R —#E

Currency risk — Continued

Sensitivity analysis — Continued

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to a 5% (2023: 5%)
increase and decrease in HK$ against RMB: 5%
is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding amounts of PRC subsidiaries’
HK$ denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the end of reporting period
for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. For a
5% strengthening of HK$ against RMB, the post-
tax loss for the year ended 31 December 2023
would be decreased by approximately HK$42,000
(2022: HK$16,000). For a 5% weakening of the
HK$ against SGD and RMB, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the profit and other
comprehensive income.

Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing
financial assets and liabilities with a floating
interest rate as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Other price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price risk through

its investments in equity securities measured at
FVTPL. The management manages this exposure
by maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risks. The Group’s equity price risk is
mainly concentrated on equity instruments quoted
in the Stock Exchange.

RESRRE R AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies — Continued
(i) Market risk — Continued

164

(i1)

Other price risk — Continued

The sensitivity analysis have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the
reporting date. A 5% increase or decrease is used
as it represents management’s assessment of the
possible change in price of equity securities.

If the prices of the respective equity securities that
are indexed to equity prices had been 5% higher/
lower, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year ended
31 December 2023 would increase/decrease by
HK$628,250 (2023: HK$259,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of equity securities held for
trading.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments
had been 5% (2022: 5%) higher/lower, the post-tax
loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$71,000)
as a result of the changes in P-funds. At 31
December 2023, P-funds were dissolved, therefore
there would be no risk arising from investment in
P-funds.

Credit risk and impairment assessment
Credit risk refers to the risk that Group’ s
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in a financial loss to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to accounts and other
receivables, loan receivables, and bank balances.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
cash and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are large banks have low credit risk.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

33.€®mM T A&
(b) f!ﬁi%lﬂl!ﬁ%ii:% B REE-

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — Continued =
(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment — (i) 15 B /& ez KX 6t (6 7 14 —
Continued &

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in
which the customers operate. The Group has
concentration of credit risk as 9% (2022: 12%) and
43% (2022: 38%) of the total accounts receivable
was due from the Group's largest customer and the
five largest customers respectively.

AEENEERBREIERE
BAEFHNSEEAMTE:
MIEREFLEMBENTTE
SERATE - NEETRE
SHRZEERR  ETTHAER
EWAEBEZAEF kAR
REF B RIED RIE B &
WHRFHH9% (T ==

12% ) %43% (ZE ==

38%) °
Internal credit rating Description Accounts receivable  Other financial assets
A EEFR Ht JE W Bk 5 HtemEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does  Lifetime ECL-not 12m ECL
not have any due amounts credit impaired
i REUFEOARE BYEEMAHFE HRMEEERE NEARMEEES
—BEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but settle in  Lifetime ECL-not 12m ECL
full credit impaired
ERAE BEHEAZRREBAREER EOERER PHRBEERE NEARHESEAR
-EEERE
Doubtful There have been significant Increase in credit Lifetime ECL-not Lifetime ECL- not
risk since Initial recognition through Information credit impaired credit impaired
development Internally or external resources
5 FENBELIHBRBNANER ANSRRN 2HENEESR  RHESEEES
REERBEBEZEM -EEERE —BREERE
Loss There is evidence indicating that the asset is credit-  Lifetime ECL-credit ~ Lifetime ECL-credit
impaired impaired impaired
3 BREBRAEECHRERRNE SHRMEERE 2HENESER
—FERE —FERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery, asset Is credit-impaired
fifl 3% BEBRPBEARRBENRAZE fAKEKRD FADHE REC M
RENHEY BECHREERE
Accounts receivable & W BR 7R

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies — Continued

(ii) Credit risk and impairment assessment —

Continued

Accounts receivable — Continued

The Group applied the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring ECL which uses a lifetime
ECL allowance for all accounts receivable. To
measure the ECL accounts receivable have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. The following table provides
information about the Group’s exposure to credit
risk and ECLs for accounts receivable as at 31
December 2023 and 2022:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

3.8 T H-—&
w)@ﬁaﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%—
M
M)&fﬂ%&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ—
%
AEBERE BV BREE
BIZE9SRf 5 AT ETEH
EEEBR ZB5HEAHA
ERRERRBAZHBEHE
EEERE - ATTE=EH
EEER BERARGER
% 12 K 780 HA K B 4 R UKBR
HETOMHE TRIBEHAEH
KEBR_ZZFEZ="FR=ZE
T+ - A=+—HEY

B 15 & [ f A0 8 YRR e TR
HEEBEER:
Expected loss rate Gross carrying amounts Loss allowance
BAABEE BREE BRBMHE
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
“E-=f -T--f ZB-=Zf <-IZ--F CZBEZ=f —T--F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$000 HKS$'000
FET TET FET TET FET TET
Current (not past due) 28 (ka8 1% 1% 9,150 12,092 129 121
1-90 days past due BHIE90R 2% 17% 3,050 11,550 62 1,984
91-180 days past due #H91Z180H 6% 53% 6,370 8,970 370 4,745
Over 180 days past due ~ #EEI180H LA £ 82% 72% 70,673 50,422 57,830 36,480
89,243 83,034 58,391 43,330
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on TEHEBEENIREEB AR
historical observed default rates over the expected AFHNBTEERMENE
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward- W ERMEE W EF A LB

looking information that is available without undue

cost or effort.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited

% KN30 %5 1 BN R 1S H Bl
EIEEREH -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued 33.2®@TE-4&
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) HBEBEERE RBKX—
policies — Continued &
(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment — (i) 15 B /& ez KX 6t (6 7 14 —
Continued &
Accounts receivable — Continued JE W BR TR — 48
The following table shows the movement in TNRINRRIERS 5 7 AR &
lifetime ECL that has been recognised for accounts WERF RN 2 HRHEE
receivable under the simplified approach. BB
Lifetime
ECL
(Not credit-
impaired)
HEH
FEEBR
(BEERME)
HK$000
TET
As at 1 January 2022 R-—ZTE-—_=—F—H—H 22,909
Impairment losses recognised BRI ERSRE 20,562
Written off from disposal &5 B 8 (1471)
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZE-_—_F+-A=+—~H 43,330
Impairment losses recognised B HERRE BB 15,061
As at 31 December 2023 R-E-_=F5+=-B=+—H 58,391
Loan and interests receivables JE W B TR R B
The management considers all loan receivables it N & K/ 35 K| B8 718 B
as doubtful if the repayment of principal and/ HE3ER MEEREERAR
or interest has been overdue for more than 3 PRERKEREREK - RIE
months. Based on assessment by the management, EEENG RBE_ZT
approximately HK$163,000 of loss allowance was T =F+-_A=+—HB1F
reversed during the year ended 31 December 2023 JE % B B 18 B 49163,000
(2022: HK$818,000). BT (ZZ = =4 818,000
BIL) e
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE = =F+=H

BRI

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued

168

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — Continued
(ii) Credit risk and impairment assessment —

Continued

Loan and interests receivables — Continued

The following tables show reconciliation of loss
allowances that has been recognised for loan
receivables:

S —HIEE
33.€®MIT A&
w)?ﬁHMEEmE&ﬁ%—
=

OU@fﬂﬁ&ﬁﬁJﬁf

#Wﬁ R B LS — B
TEIRO o ER SRR
TR ERE Y HE:

Lifetime ECL Lifetime

(not credit  ECL (Credit
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total

2HRS

FEE# 2HES

12EAES (BEE FEE#E
FEFR "E) (E8RE) @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FHET

At 31 December 2021 and AZTZ—F
1 January 2022 TZA=+-Bk
—E--_%—-A—H - 2,087 - 2,087
Reversal of impairment loss for rEERORESA
the year - (818) - (818)
At 31 December 2022 and R-E-Z-§
1 January 2023 +ZB=+-8k
—E-=¥-H-H - 1,269 - 1,269
Reversal of impairment loss for AEEROREER
the year - (163) - (163)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZBZ=%
+=A=+-F - 1,106 . 1,106
Bank balances RITEEER

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.

Deposits and other receivables

For deposits and other receivables, the directors
make periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of deposits and other receivables
based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The directors believe
that there is no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition and the
Group provide impairment based on 12 months
ECL. Based on assessment by the management,
approximately HK$3,195,000 was reversed
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$4,051,000).

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

33.€®mM T A&
w)@ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%—

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — Continued =
(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment — (i) 15 B /& ez KX 6t (6 7 14 —
Continued &

Deposits and other receivables — Continued

The following tables show reconciliation of loss
allowances that has been recognised for deposits
and other receivables:

12 e R EH b FEWGRIE — &
TRIRE S IEE R HME
WHRIEEANEEREY
BE :

12m ECL

1218 A &

FEEE

HK$°000

T

As at 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—F—H—H 593
Impairment losses recognised BRI B B 18 4,051
Written off from disposal H 65 B i 8 (542)
Exchange adjustments PE 5L 58 B (16)
As at 31 December 2022 RZFZZF+ZA=+—~H 4,086
Reversal of impairment loss (B B 1E o) (3,195)
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZB-=%+-A=+—H 891

(iii) Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk
management rests with the directors, which has
built an appropriate liquidity risk management
framework for the management of the Group’s
short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity
management requirements. The Group manages
liquidity risk by maintaining adequate bank
balances and cash and continuously monitoring
forecast and actual cash flows.

The following table analyses the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities
provided internally to the key management
personnel for the purpose of managing liquidity
risk. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. The maturity dates for financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

RESRRE R AR
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BEREEE REEAEHE
ZHEM FPHERHES R
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

e R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

33.8 T H—&
b) BEEREERERBKE -

policies — Continued &
(iii) Liquidity risk — Continued (iii) B & T A — 48
Weighted Total
average Within contractual
effective 1yearor  More than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate  on demand 1 year cash flow amount
CREN:3)
nETH R-FR ReRE
HERAZ HEER BB-F nE REE
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=%+-A=t-H
Accounts and other payables JE 1 B 5% I B B N FR0E - 32,973 - 32,973 32,973
32,973 - 32,973 32,973
As at 31 December 2022 RZFZ—4+-A=1+—-8
Accounts and other payables ERERREmEMNFRE - 7,531 - 7,531 7,531
7,531 - 7,531 7,531

(iv) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments
Fair value hierarchy

(iv) @ T AN A EFTE

Paray
NREEFER

TREJIRBEAREZFHER

The following table presents financial assets and
liabilities measured at fair value in the statement
of financial position in accordance with the fair
value hierarchy. The hierarchy groups financial
assets and liabilities into three levels based on
the relative reliability of significant inputs used in
measuring the fair value of these financial assets
and liabilities.

The level in fair value hierarchy within which
the financial asset or liability is categorised in its
entirety is based on the lowest level of input that is

MBRREZANR AR EFE
M % REE M B E - RIRET
ENESREERABZA
REMERZEZ2EH ABIE
ZHEBAEL BeREE
rkBEESR=ZEFK-

TMEEXREERMER
ANDAREFTL BERS
ARAEFEABEAEEN

significant to the fair value measurement. RIEF R ABIE-
Level 1 Level 2 Total
£-% E-R et
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
“E-=f Z—T--% ZB-Zf <-IZI--F CZBZ=fF Z-T-—-F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FHET
Financial assets at FVTPL: & AR BT ABH
ERBE:
- Listed securities held ~RHEEE2 LW
for trading &5 12,565 5,180 - - 12,565 5,180
- P-Funds -hEES - - - 1,425 - 1,425
All of the Group’s fair value measurement were REBERAE QB ERR
remeasured at the end of the reporting period. EHREHTE-
Sino Splendid Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued 33.2®ITE-&

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) HBEBEERE RBKX—
policies — Continued &
(iv) Fair value measurements of financial (iv) 2@ LRI N7 EFE —

instruments — Continued

Fair value hierarchy — Continued

There were no transfers of financial instruments
between levels in the hierarchy for the both years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Fair value at Fair value at
31 December 31 December
Financial assets 2023 2022
R-ZE=-= RNZEZZ
+=A T=A
=t+—-82 =+—B2
TREE NV DfE
HK$000 HK$000
FET FAET
Listed equity securities 12,565 5,180
in Hong Kong
BEALTRAES
P-Funds - 1,425
LEES

AREZH—E
HE_Z_ZF#K_F_-_—
F+-_A=Z+—HIMAF
B &5gzRTESHT
H#Eizo

Fair value Valuation techniques
hierarchy and key input

DRE BERWK
8 BeEHABE

Level T Quoted bid prices in
an active market

£F—& BRBRMGZHRE

Level 2 Net assets value

£ AEFE

There was no change in valuation technique
in respect of P-Funds for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022. There were no transfer
between level 1 and level 2 during the year.

As at 31 December 2023, the investment in
P-fund has been liquidated on 30 June 2023 after
disposing all public traded securities listed on
Tokyo Stock Exchange on 21 February 2023.

RESRRE R AR

BE_ZT_=—FR-_F_—
F+ZA=+—-HIEFE
MEESHNHERMHES
BAFE - F-REF -
AR 2 R A B A A AR RS o

BEEz_ZT_=%+_-AH
“t+—HB ER-_T-=F
At HEETERER
BERXBGHETHEE AR
RGBEHE RILEEEH
KEER _ZE-_=ZFXA

= N Al s
= tHBEEZE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING M. MEFHELEZ2EEZHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing

T%EiﬁlJﬁgl%ﬂﬁ}E@NZEZE
ENES BRRELIIFRSE
EQE/E@FEZQEZ%IE%//%E&*

activities are those for which cash flows were, or future RRERERAEBGFABEERER
cash flows will be, classified as cash flows from financing THOBERARMETDMFREREZE
activities in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash f&e
flows.
Bond Lease
payable liabilities Total
B fE 2 HEAE Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FET FET
At 1 January 2022 RZZE-_—_%—H—H 6,180 663 6,843
Addition NE 180 3 183
Disposal & - (663) (663)
Repayment B3R (6,000) - (6,000)
Imputed interest paid B HEERE (360) (3) (363)
Exchange realignment [E 5 o & - - -
At 31 December 2022, R-ZEBE-—4F
1 January 2023 and +=-—A=+—8"
31 December 2023 —E-_=%—H—H
R-—ZB_=F+_H
=+—H N N N

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35.@HARS

172

Other than the remuneration paid to the directors and
employees of the Group as set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements, who are considered as
the key management personnel of the Group, the Group
did not have any other significant compensations to key
management personnel. The remuneration of directors
and key executives is determined by the remuneration
committee having regard to the performance of individuals
and market trends.

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set out

36 KRR EEM B QARIFE

ARRRBERRERELRAEFTAELZ
MEBARFEHIIAT -

below.

Place of Proportion of ownership interest and

incorporation/ voting power held by the Company

registration and Paid up issued/registered ARARZEREZRREELA
Name of subsidiaries operations capital Directly Indirectly Principal activities

HMERL/ HrRERT/
MWEAREE ERREELH SMER =83 GF3 EXE 3

2023 2022 2023 2022
ZE-=E -ZI--% ZBZZf C-T--F
TTG Global Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares 100% 100% - - Investment holdings
BEBREERERAR BA 1005% & @R REER
Netplus Media Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares - - 100% 100% Provision of advertising
agency service
ERERARAR BE 100 & BR REEERBRE
Sino Impact Group Limited ~ British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of 100% 100% - - Investment in securities
US$1 each
Sino Impact Group Limited ~ XERZ &5 TREREEIETLZ BHERE
il
BifgazRE ORI PRC Paid up capital - - 100% 100% Virtual reality business
RiBRAR HK$10,000,000
EmgizER ORI T 1R R 410,000,000 7T ERAREHR
R ERAR

Nation Wealth Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share - - 100% 100% Money lending
Nation Wealth Limited ) TRE B W&

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of the year. The above table lists the subsidiaries of
the Group which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

RESRRE R AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
re M ERERME
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z —FE - =F+=-H=+—HILFE
37. X RRHBMRR KRR HE
(@ X2 EHBMRR K

37.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of Financial position of the Company

2023 2022
—E2-= —E-—F
HK$000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Non-Current Asset ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REBARZIRE - -
Current Assets REBEE
Equity investment at FVTPL BRASEFABRZ
‘AR E - 1,425
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE L B B 1 /) SR IR - -
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTHH - 67
- 1,492
Current Liabilities REBEE
Accounts and other payables & ASF B AR I B A FE A R IE 2,295 2,170
Amount due to subsidiaries AN ENGIE ] 3,059 1,156
5,354 3,326
Net Current Liabilities ERBAE (5,354) (1,834)
Net Liabilities FEE (5,354) (1,834)
Capital and Reserves MR A K
Share capital fig A 5,902 5,902
Reserves & (11,256) (7,736)
Total Equity RS AR (5,354) (1,834)

Approved and authorized for issued by the board of

directors on 26 March 2024.

R-ZE-_NME=A -+ BK=E

ERHE R AT -

Wang Tao Yu Tat Chi
- RERE

Director Director
£ -

Sino Splendid Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE=-F - =F+=-H=+—HILFE

37.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

37. AR E M BMRR R KA —

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY - Continued &
(b) Movement in the company reserves (b) X TFEREEEH
Share Convertible Capital
Share option  Capital bonds  redemption  Accumulated
premium reserve  reserve reserve reserve losses Total
CE: 33
ROEE BRERE S4RE BHEEF 1XEERE 2iER b
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK'000 HK$000  HK$'000
TEL TEr  TET TEL TET TET  TET
At 1 January 2022 RZBZZ%-A—-H 79,246 1,612 755 - 11,690 (58,847) 34,456
Issue of share upon exercised — E{TERERERTRG
the share option 1,878 (589) - - - - 1,289
Lapsed of equity-settled RESEENRNA BEREZ
share payment BEES - (1) - - - 1 -
Recognition of equity-settled B AL G LA
share payment RERZ - 1328 - - - - 1,328
Issue of convertible bonds BIMBRRES - - - 1,537 - - 1,537
Conversion of convertible bonds B a4k E% 8,325 - - (1,537) - - 6,788
Loss and other comprehensive ~ FRBEREH2EFRY
expenses for the year - - - - - (53,134) (53,134
At 31 December 2022 and RZF-__&+-A=t-H
1 January 2023 kZZz=%-f-H 89,449 2,350 755 - 11,690 (111,980) (7,736)
Lapsed of equity-settled RESEENRNA BEREZ
share payment BEES - (1,022) - - - 1,022 -
Loss and other comprehensive ~ FRBEREH2ERZ
expenses for the year - - - - - (3,520) (3,520)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZZE+ZAZ+-H 89,449 1,328 755 - 11,690 (114,478)  (11,256)
FEERRRIERBRLT b S S 175



FINANCIAL SUMMARY

LUpLY

RESULTS E
Year ended 31 December
BEEZE+t-A=+t-HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—BC-= —ZT-fF Bz ZTZTF ZIT—hF
HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS$ HKS
BT BT BT BT BT
Revenue BEE 42,311 66,267 63,663 41,150 107,365
Loss and total comprehensive A T ATEEAREE
expense for the year EENEFERMX
attributable to: o
Owners of the Company AREHBA (49,071) (43,023) (22,130) (23,597) (2,665)
Non-controlling interests FEPRRR R & - - - - -
(49,071) (43,023) (22,130) (23,597) (2,665)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING EE - BERFERER
INTERESTS
At 31 December
R+=BA=+-H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=F —E-- —E-—F —ECFF —E-AF
HKS$ HK$ HK$ HKS$ HKS$
BT BT BT BT BT
Assets BE 85,099 110,423 154,684 202,950 237,474
Liabilities =N (33,515) (7,618) (20,137) (46,340) (61,719)
Non-controlling interests RS - (2,029) (2,029) (2,029) (2,029)
51,584 100,776 132,518 154,581 173,726
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